¢~ Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited
| AAERRBERERA S

/ (formerly known as Affluent Partners Holdings Limited)
(HI 75 23 £ JF BE IR AT IR 2\ 7] )
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(4B 42 JHE 5 G M 37 2 R4 A )

|_ (Stock Code B 171X 5% : 1466)

‘ g' SEe

2025 |\

Annual Report N

A N/
VAN




Contents H &%

OVERVIEW BnE

Corporate Information NaEER 2
Financial Highlights MR E 4
Management Discussion and Analysis ERE RO 5
Profile of Directors EXRER 20
Corporate Governance Report EERWE 24
Report of the Directors BFgms 39
FINANCIAL SECTION R ER 2

Independent Auditor’s Report B ZE AN RS 52
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss FEBmE 61
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and reBm REA 62

Other Comprehensive Income EEINERES

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position e BARR R 63
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity maEmEFER 65
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Felenex 67
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements fRe SRR MR 69
Five Year Financial Summary hFRBERHE 184




Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& 4 s Bl £ 12 % A R A 7

Corporate Information

G g

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming
Mr. Dong Peng
Dr. Su Yaoyao

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Yongjun
Mr. Cheng ChiKin

Ms. Xie Chunchen (appointed on 23 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chang Chunyu
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chang Chunyu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Mr. Zhu Yongjun

Mr. Chang Chunyu

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel

Dr. Su Yaoyao

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Mr. Zhu Yongjun

Mr. Chang Chunyu

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel

Dr. Su Yaoyao

Ms. Xie Chunchen (appointed on 30 June 2025)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
(Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor)

LEGAL ADVISERS

Lo & Lawyers
Conyers Dill & Pearman
Fangda Partners

HHE
iTHF

R A
e
HIERE L

FEHfTES

KBELAE
BB A
WMERZ LT (R20245F 12 A23BEEE)

B IR RATHE

Bk E
FEMRLE
FRBREE

THRERE

FHRRFELE (X/E)
BkREE
BEBRAE

HZE R &

mRRELE (T E)
SREFHILE
ARBERE
FEMEE
FRBEE
FRIRIETE -

RAEZARE

IR E (F/F)

REFBUE A&

KBELA

BAERLE

TRBRRE

RSt

HERZ T (7202596 530 HEZT)

Al E
REFHITE
B B b

ABEEGHMEEMERAR
(RL 1 2 R 25 B RE #% 2L EID)
%R

5 K A2RTT

Conyers Dill & Pearman

T ERENE R



PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSEFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

LISTING INFORMATION

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Ordinary Share (Stock Code: 1466)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Office B, 9/F., Pico Tower

66 Gloucester Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE
www.baijinlifescience.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Email: ir@baijinlifescience.com

Annual Report 2025 F R

Corporate Information

R ERE

TR RBRAT

FBLBESRITARRAT
RERTT (BE) BRAF
RBIRIT(BE)BRAA

F By B AL

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

A U B Oy 38 B8 e A g

EBHFERBRAT
BE
BB 165
BRRESBPOI7E
EiE B
BEABERXSFABRAT
Tk (RGO - 1466)
RSN
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

TR
BB

EITE 66k
EFRAEIERE

2 v 44 4k
www.baijinlifescience.com

P& # B 1R

BH : ir@baijinlifescience.com

3



Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& 4 s Bl £ 12 % A R A 7

Financial Highlights
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KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

TR RB

Consolidated Statement of

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31MBLEE

Profit or Loss mEBRER 2025 2024 Change
2025 20245 ) %

Revenue (HK$'000) WA (FH7T) 135,556 53,676 81,880 1525
Gross profit (HK$'000) EF (FHET) 41,986 18,100 23,886 1320
Loss before income tax BrPTIS R AT ES 18

(HK$'000) (F#&71) (1,365) (8,529) 7,164 84.0
Loss for the year attributable to REEZ ZRRRHER A

owners of the Company FE(E &S 1B

(HK$'000) (F#&mT) (316) (7,448) 7132 95.8
Basic loss per share (HK$) BREREE (BT) (0.05) (1.15) 1.1 95.7

As at 31 March

R3A31H
Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position FEMBRRE 2025 2024 Change
2025 F 20244 25 %
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(FET) 155,877 112,792 43,085 382
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMERBRE (FET)

(HKS'000) 47,773 37,884 9,889 26.1
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) RERER (FET) 139,283 96,308 42,975 446
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEMB LR

2025 2024 Change
2025 F 2024 4F b=k )
Gross profit margin® FERERO 31.0% 33.7% 2.7)
percentage points
Q7 &> 2
Return on equity® BEESER? (0.2)% (8.9)% 8.7
percentage points
87 EH o2
Current ratio (times)® MENL R (fF)0 4.6 30
Gearing ratio® BEREBELEY 0.6 04

(1) Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group.

) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company (2 BRESORATAARREE AREEF, (EBE)
to total equity attributable to owners of the Company.

3) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities.

(1) ENREREEEFRALA -

BUAARBEE AEBIEBER LR -

) @%m%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁé%@%uﬁ@ﬁ%%ﬁz
%

(4) Gearing ratio represents total borrowings and convertible bond, including current and ~ (4) BERBEXREEEAERITRRES (BERY
non-current portion, divided by total equity.

RIFME AP D) B A M8 HE AR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board hereby reports the results of Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2025 ("FY25"). During FY25, the consolidated loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company was HKS$0.3 million (year ended 31 March 2024
("FY24"): loss of HKS7.4 million). The loss of the Group for FY25 amounted to
HKS0.1 million (FY24: loss of HK$8.5 million) representing a decrease in loss of
99.0% as compared with the loss in FY24. The basic loss per share was HK cents
0.05 (FY24: loss per share of HK cents 1.15), representing a decrease of 95.7% as
compared with that in FY24. The significant decrease in loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025 was mainly due to the increase in revenue and
gross profit mainly from jewellery business segment; the increase in reversal of
allowances for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, net; the
increase in other gains, net; and after offset the impairment loss on goodwill
and the increase in administrative expenses.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Jewellery Business Segment

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants and purchasers of pearls,
with its customers spanning around the globe. Leveraging its own competitive
advantages, which include the close and stable relationship with customers
and suppliers, the Group has offered vertically integrated product chain and
built a renowned reputation in the jewellery industry.

During FY25, the Group is cooperating with a local brand to explore the fine
jewellery market which makes remarkable revenue contribution FY25.

The segmental revenue generated from the Jewellery Business Segment
increased from HK$50.3 million in FY24 to HK$115.2 million in FY25. For FY25,
the return on capital of jewellery products was 24.0% (FY24: 6.9%).

o B v wm S g

St 5 1 52
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HKREEBEDEATE DU A H 2024 F B F
€ #9 50,300,000 7% JT 18 Z= 2025 F B B F £ Y
115,200,000 7T ° 2025 FH B F & 2 KRB E
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group has been looking into various materials for its jewellery design to
enrich the product collection in its jewellery business. The Group also targets to
sell the jade, pearls and jewellery products to mainland China and other Asian
countries as the demand for those products in those markets is still higher than
that in the western market.

While the Board considers the market sentiment is continuously improving,
nevertheless, the Group will continue to strictly control costs and improve
operation efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. The Group
will continue to actively participate in various important jewellery, gem fairs
and arrange VIP jewellery events when the market is recovering in order to
maintain its diversified customer base.

Skincare Business Segment

On 29 June 2023, the Company, the vendor (the "Vendor"), the ultimate
beneficial owner of the Vendor and the guarantors entered into the sale
and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement’), pursuant
to which the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell and the Group has
conditionally agreed to acquire the sale of 100% shareholding in Tonnett Julis
Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”) and a group of companies (the
“Target Group’) (the "Acquisition”).

On 9 February 2024, all conditions precedent set out in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement had been fulfilled and the completion took place in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 11 August 2022, 10 November 2022, 29 June 2023, 30 November 2023,
2 January 2024, 8 February 2024, 9 February 2024 and 25 July 2025 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 January 2024.

During FY25 and FY24, the Target Group contributed revenue and results to
the Group from its skincare business segment.

The total Group's revenue contribution from the newly acquired skincare
business segment was HK$20.4 million in FY25 (FY24: HK$3.3 million).

AEB-—BESREERERAOMHUARR
AEBREXRBHRINER - NEE A E
A E AR EMENEREEEL B
RREEM ARAZEMHHRFEMNS
KB AT mES o

HAEZGARMBRALESNE - A -
AEBEHEBBRMEERAN  RARNHZER
MEREED  AEFBEFN - KAEBEHHF
MG ERREEER2NZAEENKES
MRES UTLHEERELY  UWERFH
SN EPER

i i S8 75 43

202366 A28 - AnE -BH(EFD -
ETRREaBEEARERAGILEE W
Z(EEWHR]) B BEFEEBRERE
& M AN & B 2 B G R E U Tonnett Julis
Holdings Limited ( B AR ) k—#2& ([ B
EEE]) K 100% M4 ([WEEE]) -

R2024F 208 EEWAIE 2T E &k
BHEHBEER TRECREE S HiE 2GR
MIGHESE -

WHEEENFBERARA B AR202F8 A
1TH ~2022F 11 A10H +2023F6 A29H »
202311 A30H ~2024%F 1 A2H 202452
A8H ~2024F2A9H K2025%F 782582
NEUNRAQAR A A2024F1H25HZ R

2025 F M BFE R 2024 FHBFE - BIR
SEHEBEEEXHOBAANEEERKA

K205 FREFE » REERB KB E
B o 20 208 A & B /A 20,400,000 78 7T
(2024 5 BABARFE © 3,300,000 70) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Compared to the segment results of the skincare business during FY24, the
Group has experienced an increase in segment loss in FY25, primarily due
to the following reasons: (a) building on the Group’s brand awareness and
considering the success of its brand partners who operate their beauty salons
and clinics under the FO brand with the Group’s brand authorisation, the
Group has decided to establish its own flagship beauty club in April 2024. The
flagship beauty club is currently under renovation. Resources were allocated
to setup costs, including property refurbishment, equipment acquisition, and
recruitment of personnel, which has led to increased operational expenses
within the segment, (b) we have shifted our sales strategy to focus on
distribution of products through larger distributors, leading to a decrease in the
average selling price of our skincare products, (c) we experienced fluctuation
in supplies of raw materials and have prioritised utilisation of raw materials in
the production of our skincare products, which contributed to a decrease in
our sales of raw materials, (d) some of our distributors have underperformed
during FY24 due to increased competition in the skincare product market and
contributed to a weaker revenue contribution from sales to distributors; (e)
due to unexpected results from some of our client’s R&D tests, the progress of
some of the R&D projects have been extended and resulted in a decrease in
our revenue as income from our R&D services are recognised by stages of the
R&D projects; and (f) we are pivoting from consulting services and are devoting
our resources to the establishment of the flagship beauty club, which in turn
resulted in a decrease in revenue generated from consulting services.

The Group understands that the skincare market has immense potential and
there are product crossover between the Group's pearl products and the
Group's skincare products, one of the synergies being processing pearls to
become one of the ingredients in skincare products. The Group has developed
FO brand skin whitening products with pearls ingredients and has launched
the FO Pearl Whitening Cream and the FO Pearl Whitening Essence during
FY25.

Strategic Investment Segment

During FY24, the Group maintained the co-working space investment
business through the Strategic Investment Segment. Since the downturn
of the economy, it had adversely affected the operation of the co-working
business, which had in turn affected the demand of co-working space and the
management of co-working business had downsized its co-working space
network.

During FY25, the Group disposed one ordinary share representing the entire
issued ordinary share of a subsidiary which held the co-working business
investment, to an independent third party, at a consideration of HKS$1, on 29
July 2024. We expected that the Group will make continuous efforts to find
appropriate investment projects so as to diversify the income streams of the
Group.

o B v wm S g
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LITIGATION

As at the reporting date, the Group was not involved in any other material
litigation or arbitration.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no financial guarantee.

PROSPECTS

Overall speaking, although the Group’s revenue in the Jewellery Business
segment was increased during FY25, based on the Group's current observation
and estimation, the overall downtrend is expected to be carried forward to a
certain extent for coming years due to the change of consumption pattern
caused by the downturn. As such, the Group has introduced jade products as
materials for its jewellery products and looking for opportunities to cooperate
with others to broaden and diversify its customer base. In addition, the Group
is cooperating with another local brand to explore the fine jewellery market.
The Group has, from time to time, been looking for opportunities to leverage
its management expertise to expand its existing business to further uncover
the potential market of its ultimate female consumers.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value to
the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the
Group will continue enhancing the development of the jewellery business,
actively participating in various important jewellery and gem fairs and VIP
jewellery events and optimising operation efficiency and productivity to stay
competitive.

Since September 2024, the Group has initiated the process of establishing
a flagship beauty club. The Group believes that the flagship beauty club
will serve as an effective way for customer relationship management and
user experience optimisation, especially for the distributors, by providing a
showroom that makes the display more vivid, life-oriented, and scenario-
based. The Group is also planning to operate beauty salons under its own
management, which provides another platform to promote the Group's
skincare products while enabling the Group’s direct participation in the beauty
and wellness services market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group considers that the skincare market has immense potential and
there is a product crossover between the Group’s pearl products and the
Target Group's skincare products, one of the synergies being processing
pearls to become one of the ingredients in skincare products. Given the sales
and distribution of pearls and jewellery products by the Group and the sales
and distribution of skincare products by the Target Group, both primarily
focus on the female consumer market, there may bring along potential
collaboration and cross-selling opportunities which will be mutually beneficial
to both parties. The Directors believe that the Acquisition gives the Group an
opportunity to expand its existing business both vertically by using the Group's
existing pearl products as raw materials for skincare products and horizontally
by widening its range of female consumer products extending from pearl and
jewellery to skincare products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of jewellery products and operation of
strategic investment and financial services, in addition with the new principal
activities engaged in the provision of skincare solutions, consultation and
research and development services.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue increase to HK$135.6 million for FY25 (FY24: HKS$53.7 million),
comprised sales of jewellery business segment of HK$115.2 million (FY24:
HK$50.3 million) and the skincare business segment of HK$20.4 million (FY24:
HK$3.3 million).

Gross profit increased by HK$23.9 million to HK$42.0 million (FY24: HK$18.1
million). The gross profit margin during FY24 is higher than that of FY25 mainly
due to the larger reversal of provision for impairment loss on inventories upon
sales of those inventories.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$3.1 million (FY24:
HKS$1.2 million) and administrative expenses of HK$34.2 million (FY24: HK$27 4
million). S&A expenses increased by HK$8.8 million or 30.7% to HK$37.3 million
(FY24: HK$28.6 million) in FY25. S&A expenses was increased during FY25
mainly due to expenses incurred by the newly acquired skincare business
contributed for a year.

Loss Attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company substantially decreased
by HKS$7.1 million or 95.8% to HK$0.3 million in FY25 (FY24: loss of HKS7.4
million) and the total comprehensive loss of the Group for FY25 was HKS1.4
million (FY24: total comprehensive loss of HK$10.6 million) was mainly due to
the increase in revenue and gross profit mainly from jewellery business; the
increase in reversal of allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets,
net; the increase in other gains, net; and after offset the impairment loss on
goodwill, the increase in administrative expenses and the increase in exchange
difference on translation of foreign operations.

As a result of the impairment review of the goodwill, the recoverable amount
of Tonnett Group is lower than its carrying amount as at 31 March 2025. As a
result, an impairment loss of HK$20 million was recognised on goodwill arising
from acquisition of Tonnett Group during FY25.

The Group has engaged an independent professional valuer, CHFT Advisory
and Appraisal Limited (the “Valuer”), to conduct a valuation (the “Valuation”)
to support the calculation of impairment loss on goodwill. The Company, the
auditor of the Company and the Valuer had been in active discussion on the
valuation for impairment testing.
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The impairment assessment of the goodwill recognised in relation to the
acquisition of Tonnett Group was performed using the discounted cash-flow
method, based on financial projections provided by the directors to derive
the value-in-use. The key inputs and assumptions used in the valuation are as
follows:
Cash Flow Projections
o} The forecast period covers 5 financial years (i.e., from 1 April 2025 to 31
March 2030), with a terminal growth rate of 3% applied thereafter.
o} Revenue growth rate in the forecast period ranged from 10% to 15% and
were based on:
historical performance of Tonnett Group;
existing signed contracts;
market conditions and industry trend;
management’s expectations of upcoming business performance

(i.e. seasonal sales pattern and team restructuring and integration
in the financial year ended 31 March 2025); and

the Company'’s latest business plans in establishing a flagship

beauty club and operating beauty salons.

o} Capital expenditure and working capital requirements are estimated
based on historical trends and future business needs.

Discount Rate (WACC)

The pre-tax discount rate used in the valuation was 21.5%.

Terminal Value

The terminal value was calculated using the Gordon Growth Model, with a

perpetual growth rate of 3%, which aligns with long-term expectations.

The changes in the key inputs and assumptions used in the impairment
assessment, compared to those adopted previously at acquisition, were
primarily driven by the following factors:
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Terminal Growth Rate

The terminal growth rate applied is 3%, considering the historical economic
trend over the past 20 years.

Revised Cash Flow Projections

The updated revenue forecasts incorporate near-term revenue growth
adjustments to reflect actual performance, ensuring alignment with current
trends.

While the terminal growth rate adjustments reflect improved long-term
confidence and reduced risk, the impairment arose from:

initial over-estimation in previous acquisition forecasts; and
near-term performance recalibration, despite growth.

There have been no subsequent changes to the valuation methodology since
the initial impairment assessment. The Company continues to apply the same
approach in accordance with HKFRS requirements, as it remains the most
appropriate method given the abovementioned factors.

At the time of acquisition, the Company aimed to bring along the following
prospects and strategies:

Expansion of Product Matrix: Leveraging on the in-depth knowledge
of and years of experience in the provision of scientific research services,
the R&D services segment is a backbone of Tonnett Group and has
always generated a steady income for the operation of Tonnett Group.
Going forward at the time of acquisition, Tonnett Group would continue
to enhance its R&D capabilities and operating efficiencies for the
provision of R&D Services to third parties.

Expansion of Clientele: Tonnett Group would continue to strengthen
its brand marketing and consulting services and explore more online and
offline sales opportunities to enlarge the sales and distribution network,
enhance the penetration of skincare products under the FO brand, and
carry out science- and knowledge-driven marketing to reinforce the FO
brand recognition.

Synergies with the Company: The Company believed it to be a way
to leverage its management expertise to expand its existing business to
further uncover the potential market of its ultimate female consumers
and to expand its existing business both vertically by using existing
pearl products as raw materials for skincare products and horizontally by
widening its range of female consumer products extending from pearl
and jewellery to skincare products.
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the skincare business segment
recorded an increase in loss, primarily due to the following reasons:

The Company decided to establish its own flagship beauty club in April
2024, resources were allocated to setup costs, which has led to increased
operational expenses within the segment;

Sales strategy was shifted to focusing on distribution of products
through large distributors, leading to a decrease in the average selling
price of skincare products;

Fluctuation of supplies of raw materials contributed to a decrease in
sales of raw materials;

Some of distributors have underperformed and contributed to a weaker
revenue contribution from sales to distributors;

Income from R&D services decreased due to extended R&D projects; and

More resources were devoted to the establishment of the flagship
beauty club.

For the Company’s business prospect, it is submitted that, since September
2024, the Group has initiated the process of establishing a flagship beauty
club. The Group believes that the flagship beauty club will serve as an effective
way for customer relationship management and user experience optimisation,
especially for the distributors, by providing a showroom that makes the display
more vivid, life-oriented, and scenario-based. The Group is also planning to
operate beauty salons under its own management, which provides another
platform to promote the Group's skincare products while enabling the Group’s
direct participation in the beauty and wellness services market. Further, the
Company considers that the skincare market has immense potential and there
is a product crossover between the Company's pearl products and Tonnett
Group's skincare products, one of the synergies being processing pearls to
become one of the ingredients in skincare products. Given the sales and
distribution of pearls and jewellery products by the Company and the sales and
distribution of skincare products by Tonnett Group, both primarily focus on the
female consumer market, there may bring along potential collaboration and
cross-selling opportunities which will be mutually beneficial to both parties.
The Company believes that the acquisition gives the Company an opportunity
to expand its existing business both vertically by using the Company’s existing
pearl products as raw materials for skincare products and horizontally by
widening its range of female consumer products extending from pearl and
jewellery to skincare products.
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It is submitted that impairment was made shortly made post-acquisition
because of the following reasons:

Short-term operational disruptions: Distributor model transition has
impacted the Company’s performance in the financial year ended 31
March 2025.

Revised growth projections:
2026 Projection Basis

o The core 2026 estimate is anchored in the existing contractual
commitments along with annualized actual revenue from the
second quarter of the year 2025.

o As per management of Tonnett Group, the rest of the financial
year ending 31 March 2026 possesses growth potential. As
Tonnett Group's skincare segment is primarily operating through a
distributor model, sales exhibit distinct seasonality — with strong
second-half performance driven by year-end promotions and
annual events, while first-half results are comparatively weaker.
Additionally, to support its business development needs this year,
Tonnett Group underwent a restructuring of their operational
team. While this transition caused short-term impact, the team has
now largely completed integration, and Tonnett Group anticipates
a stronger operational performance in the second half of the year.

Post-2026 Growth Rate (12%—-10%)

The gradual tapering of growth rates from 12% to 10% after the financial
year ending 31 March 2026 is justified by the following factors:

o alignment with the China’s skincare market growth;

o taking into account the Company’s latest business plans; and

o accounting for natural deceleration as Tonnett Group's revenue
base expands.

Pearl-based skincare integration and cross-selling required more time
than initially projected.

B

HIATEH - FRERTAELRE :

EHEESETE  pEmEER
FERNNTHE2025F3831BIEF K
FEMES -

FAEFTI R TEA
2026 F FE B 1%

o 2026F M LHETTIARENA
W AR  WA2025FF =
ZERBHNFEERBEEIERGET ©

o HTonmmettEBWEREEFT - &
E2026F3 A3 BILEIHREEHT
R EFERE D o B Tonnett
SEMNEERBMATERBLEHE
HEXEE HEWBEEHRZEEH
MEE — TH¥FEEIIFRRE
HMFEEESmMERRABS - ¥
FEENEERES I BT
TRESFEBERT K Tonnett
SEYELEEBETESL - #
RERNEBENESE  BE
BERBTEKXES  Tonnett £ &
TERF TH¥FREBEERRE

TR — —F - NFRIERE(12%-
109%)

HE2006EIANA I HREERE
BEREUTEEZHRNRYE S ERE
10% :

o HAEHEEMMISAEREKRE—
2,

o EBEIRAMEMEHE K

o BE & Tonnett & B W A E HEE K
R BRI -

LIR#EmrES MR EERKTER

HESESEMH -



Annual Report 2025 F R

Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year, the Group funded its operations through a combination
of cash generated from operations, equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company, proceeds from borrowings and the issue of new shares (and
convertible bond). As at 31 March 2025, the Group's total equity was HK$155.9
million (2024: HK$112.8 million), representing an increase of 38.2% from last
year.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$47.8
million (31 March 2024: HK$37.9 million). Cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Group's net current assets were HK$177.3 million (31 March 2024: HK$80.3
million). The current ratio, represented by the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities, was 4.6 (31 March 2024: 3.0).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$8.6
million (31 March 2024: HK$5.4 million) with effective interest rates ranging
from 4.88% to 6.53% (31 March 2024: 3.95% to 4.35%) per annum and other
borrowings of HK$4 million (31 March 2024: HKS$4 million) which is at interest
rate of 6% per annum and is scheduled to be repayable on 31 December
2025. With the available cash and cash equivalents and cash generated from
operations, the Group has adequate financial resources to meet the anticipated
future liquidity requirements and capital expenditure commitment.

Capital Structure

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
772,391,072 (31 March 2024: 679,252,266) of HK$0.02 each (the "Shares”) and
its issued share capital was HK$15,447,821 (31 March 2024: HK$13,585,045).

On 30 September 2024, following the subscription agreements entered into on
12 September 2024, a total of 27,779,373 new shares were issued at HK$0.48
per share, raised net proceeds of HK$13,230,000.

On 28 March 2025, following the subscription agreements entered into on
18 March 2025, a total of 65,359,433 new shares were issued at HK$0.48 per
share, and raised net proceeds of HK$31,270,000. The unsettled balance of
HK$4,280,000 as at 31 March 2025 which has been settled in April and May
2025.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movements in either the Company’s
authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.
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Capital Commitments

At the end of the reporting periods, the Group had no significant commitments
outstanding, except for capital commitment for certain property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$6,281,000 (31 March 2024: HK$2,898,000).

Accumulated Profit Guarantee under the Acquisition

In accordance with the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the auditors
of the Company have issued the accumulated result certificate and certified
the amount of the accumulated net profit of the Target Group for the two
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 being HK$65,067 (the “Accumulated
Result").

Based on the above, the Accumulated Result did not satisfy the target profit
as set out under the profit guarantee issued by the Vendor in accordance with
the Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Target Profit’). As such, the Vendor
and the guarantors should pay a compensation amount of HK$41,969,866 to
the Group (the “Compensation Amount’).

The Board had exercised its discretion and had elected that the entirety of the
Compensation Amount shall be paid using Mode 1, being payment in cash, in
accordance with the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

The Board is of the opinion that although the Target Profit was not fulfilled,
the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement have taken into account the
possibility of the expected future performance of the Target Group not being
achieved and have set up the compensation mechanism to safeguard the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board will
constantly review the performance of the Target Group and take appropriate
actions accordingly.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 25 July 2025 in respect of
the non-fulfillment of Target Profit Guarantee for detail.
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The Board is pleased to announce that, following the passing of the special
resolutions at the EGM held on 26 November 2024, the Certificate of
Incorporation on Change of Name was issued by the Registrar of Companies
in the Cayman Islands on 27 November 2024 certifying that, on 27 November
2024, the name of the Company has been changed from "Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited” to “Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited” and “18 & 4 &5
T} 47 % A BR /2 7" has been adopted as the Company’s new dual foreign
name in Chinese, to replace the Chinese name " # E# i% A R A &), which
was used for identification purpose only (the “Change of Company Name”).
The Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name of Registered Non-Hong
Kong Company was issued by the Companies Registry in Hong Kong on 2
January 2025, confirming the Company’s new name and new dual foreign
name in Chinese have been registered in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

STRATEGIC COOPERATION FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

The Group entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement
(the “Cooperation Framework Agreement”) with Hangzhou Changwei
Hospital Company Limited* (‘Hangzhou Changwei’) (77 M| & 757 £ b & [R
‘A 7)) on the collaboration in the establishment of a smart medical service
model (the “Smart Medical Service Model") with specialised expertise and
treatment. Hangzhou Changwei, a company established in China, is a medical
institution with technical advantages, market potential and scientific research
achievements. Hangzhou Changwei intends to cooperate with Beijing Baijin,
on the basis of the complementary advantages of the two sides, to create a set
of smart medical service system encompassing medical treatment, teaching
and scientific research, to enhance the level of medical services, to improve
the experience of patients, and to promote the high quality development of
the medical industry. The development of the Smart Medical Service Model is
mainly achieved through the following aspects, namely the establishment of (a)
a cell-enabled (48 jf il 82 ) speciality disease-specific (BB Z R HJ8) smart
medical information system; (b) cell-enabled speciality and disease-specific
treatment and management smart medical service platforms; and (c) a cell-
enabled speciality-specific smart medical management system.
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The Board is of the view that the entering into of the Cooperation Framework
Agreement represents the Group's efforts to diversify its business and broaden
its income stream. The Board wishes to emphasise that the Cooperation
Framework Agreement only sets out the preliminary cooperation intentions
of the Group and Hangzhou Changwei, which does not constitute any
substantive right and obligation of any parties thereto and is subject to further
formal agreement(s) and/or arrangement(s) to be entered into by the parties,
which may or may not materialise. Subsequent to the reporting period, the
Group started to develop and design customised Smart Medical Service Model
software with Hangzhou Changwei. Details of the transaction were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 25 September 2024.

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 30 September 2024, a total of 27,779,373 subscription shares were issued
by the Company to not less than six subscribers at the subscription price of
HKS$0.48 per share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreements entered into between the Company and each of the subscribers
on 12 September 2024, representing approximately 3.93% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
subscription shares immediately upon completion of the subscription. The
above subscription shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate
granted to the Board at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
30 August 2023. The net proceeds of the subscriptions, after deducting the
relevant expenses, are approximately HK$13.2 million at an average price of
HK$0.476 per share which was used and utilised for general working capital
of the Group during FY25. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 September 2024, 16 September 2024
and 30 September 2024.

On 28 March 2025, a total of 65,359,433 subscription shares were issued by the
Company to not less than six subscribers at the subscription price of HK$0.48
per share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the subscription agreements
entered into between the Company and each of the subscribers on 18 March
2025, representing approximately 8.46% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the subscription shares
immediately upon completion of the subscription. The above subscription
shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate granted to the
Board at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 September
2024. The net proceeds of the subscriptions, after deducting the relevant
expenses, are approximately HK$31.3 million at an average price of HK$0.478
per share which was used for general working capital of the Group. Details of
the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18
March 2025, 21 March 2025 and 3 April 2025.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries
during FY25.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from various currencies,
such as United States dollars and Renminbi, which were the major foreign
currencies transacted by the Group during FY24 and FY25.

Since Hong Kong dollars remain pegged to the United States dollars within a
defined range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk against the United States dollars. The Group has subsidiaries operating in
the PRC, in which most of their transactions, including revenue, expenses and
other financing activities, are denominated in Renminbi.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk against other currencies by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and may use hedging
derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to manage its foreign
currency risk as appropriate.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total workforce of 75 (31 March 2024:
89), of whom 17 (31 March 2024: 15) were based in Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including Directors” emoluments and mandatory provident fund, was
approximately HK$18.2 million in 2025 (2024: HK$15.1 million). Employees were
remunerated on the basis of their performance and experience. Remuneration
packages, including salary and year-end discretionary bonus, were determined
by reference to market conditions and individual performance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s management reviews the Group's internal reporting in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. They have determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is principally engaged
in purchasing, processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution
of jewellery products and operation of strategic investment and financial
services, in addition with the new principal activities engaged in the provision
of skincare solutions, consultation and research and development services.
Accordingly, the Group has identified three operating segments — jewellery
business segment; strategic investment segment; and skincare business
segment.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, aged 56, was appointed as an executive director,
company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company on 1 April
2018. He is also an executive director and the chief financial officer of Far East
Holdings International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0036) since 17 February 2023, and an independent
non-executive director of Ocean Line Port Development Limited, a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8502) since November 2020. Mr. Cheung is also an independent
non-executive director of Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1536),
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has accumulated over 30 years’ working
experience from an international audit firm and public listed companies.
He had spent about 8 years in the international audit firm and was an audit
manager before he left the firm. Thereafter, Mr. Cheung has held different
senior positions in various public listed companies. He was an executive
director and chief financial officer of Dingyi Group Investment Limited (stock
code: 508), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2011 to March 2018. He was an independent non-
executive director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited (stock code: 524), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from March
2021 to November 2024.

Mr. Dong Peng, aged 37, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 27 October 2023. Mr. Dong occupied management roles in the
fields of corporate communications and marketing in Shanghai and Shenzhen
prior to joining the Company. Mr. Dong has been an investor relationship
director at Shanghai Daozhi Information Technology Company Limited ( =
BRI B R A R A &) since August 2022 and was a senior consultant
of marketing department of Yunrui (Shenzhen) Information Technology
Company Limited (£ ORI {5 B BHE B BR 2 &) from July 2020 to July
2022. He had served as a military officer in China for 5 years prior to working in
the private sector.

Dr. Su Yaoyao, aged 42, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 26 March 2024. Dr. Su has been the general manager of Beijing
Baijing Biotechnology Company Limited (1t RE & £ W EHEH B R Q 7))
since March 2022 and was the general manager of Hangzhou Qingda Kerui
Biological Technology Co, Ltd. (L )& K £t is &£ ¥ B B BR 2 7]) from
September 2018 to March 2022. Dr. Su graduated from Southeast University
with a bachelor’s degree in public health and PhD degree in public health in
2006 and 2012 respectively.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Yongjun, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 9 September 2022. Mr. Zhu obtained his undergraduate from
Hunan University in 1989 and a master degree of business administration in
Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 2005. Currently, Mr. Zhu
is the chairman of the board and an executive director of China Water Industry
Group Limited (Stock code: 1129) and New Concepts Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 2221) which are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Also, from May 2014 to March 2020, Mr. Zhu was the chairman of the board of
Josab Water Solutions AB, a company incorporated under the laws of Sweden,
whose shares are listed on the Spotlight Stock Market, a stock exchange in
Sweden. Mr. Zhu started his environmental protection career in 2001. From
July 2007 to February 2009, Mr. Zhu was an executive director of Softpower
International Limited (Stock code: 380) which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. From May 2008 to March 2013, Mr. Zhu was an executive
Director of EverChina Int'l Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 202) which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January 2009 to May
2015, he was also the chairman of the board of Heilongjiang Interchina Water
Treatment Company Limited (Stock Code: 600187) which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, aged 57, has resigned from his role as Chairman and was
re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect from 26 March 2024. Mr.
Cheng was appointed as an executive director and the Chairman of the Board
of the Company on 27 September 2019 and 18 October 2019 respectively.
He obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of Glamorgan in
1992 and a Master Degree in Business Administration from Cardiff Business
School in 1993. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants. He is also a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered Institute of
Marketing and a member of Institute of Management Accountants. He has
over 28 years of working experience in merger and acquisition, finance and
accounting, banking, asset management and funds operations in various
industries including real estate developments, infrastructure developments,
real estate investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries. Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive
director of Asiasec Properties Limited (stock code: 271), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Cheng was an executive director and the chief executive officer of China
Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code: 2330) from June 2022 to March
2024 and an executive director and chairman of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559) from August 2021 to March 2024, the shares of
both are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was an
executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino
Haijing Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1106), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to August 2018. He
was also a non-executive director of IRC Limited (stock code: 1029), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February
2017 to March 2020.

Ms. Xie Chunchen, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company on 23 December 2024. Ms. Xie is the founder and has been
the chief executive officer of Shanghai Daozhi Information Technology
Company Limited (/& 3 &1 B B B R 2 &) since January 2017, and
was a partner and the chief operating officer of Shanghai Ruijie Information
Technology Company Limited (_E /8 ¥ f 15 B Bt B IR 2 7]) during the
period from 2013 to 2016. She graduated from Tongji University in 2004 with a
bachelor's degree in Executive Management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 14 January 2022. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master
of Arts in International Accounting from City University of Hong Kong and
a Master’s Degree of Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in taxation, accounting,
financing, audit field and public listed companies for many years. Mr. Wong
is currently an executive director and chairman of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559), a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive
director of (i) China Water Industry Group Limited (stock code: 1129) and (ii) Yuk
Wing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1536), both companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an independent
non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
8081), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an
independent non-executive director of Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock
code: 8292) from June 2016 to June 2023, a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chang Chunyu, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 November 2022. Mr. Chang holds a PhD Degree of
Polymer Chemistry and Physics and a Bachelor's Degree of Applied Chemistry
from Wuhan University. He is a professor in College of Chemistry and Molecular
Sciences at Wuhan University. His research interests include polymer hydrogel,
nanocellulose functional materials and high-strength orthopedic medical
materials.

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel, aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 29 November 2023. Mr. Lee is a certified public
accountant with practising certificate. He is the fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Lee was the founder and managing partner of K. L. Lee &
Partners C.P.A. Limited and KLL Associates CPA Limited which were merged
with BDO Limited, Hong Kong member firm of the international accounting
network BDO in 2005. Mr. Lee retired from BDO Limited as partner in 2023. Mr.
Lee was a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Hainan Committee (8 F& B Z &) during the period from 2013 to 2022.
Mr. Lee is also an independent non-executive director of Hunlicar Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3638) since 1 February 2025.

Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of China Credit Holdings
Limited (currently named as Zensun Enterprises Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 185) during the period from 1994 to 2006 and
China Gas Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 384) during the period from 1997 to 2003.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard
of corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of
its businesses and the best interests of all of its stakeholders, and the Board
is fully committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards of
corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the Group
to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high standard of
accountability and protect stakeholders' interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy which
provides guidance on the application of the corporate governance principles
on the Group, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code’) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of the CG
Code, except for the deviations disclosed below:

—  There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") up to the date of this report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties
of the CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, Mr. Dong Peng and
Dr. Su Yaoyao. In the opinion of the Directors, the present arrangement
is effective and efficient.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") set out in Appendix C3 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules") as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements
for the Board's approval before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures; and (3)
compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the Group and for
the exercise of independent judgement. The Directors with various professional
qualifications, experience and related financial management expertise have
contributed to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). Hence, the Board believes
that the current Board composition satisfies the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the Group as well as
the ongoing development and management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung
Sze Ming, Mr. Dong Peng and Dr. Su Yaoyao, three non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun, Mr. Cheng Chi Kin and Ms. Xie Chunchen and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr.
Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors” on pages 20
to 23 of this annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review and
approve the Company’s interim and annual results. During the year ended 31
March 2025, 11 Board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director
at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.

Under code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should
be given of a regular board meeting to all directors an opportunity to attend.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, certain regular Board meetings were
convened with less than 14 days’ notice to enable the Directors to react
timely and make expeditious decisions in respect of transactions which were
of significance to the Group’s business. As a result, the aforesaid regular
Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than required with no
objection by the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the
requirement of code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in future. The Company
Secretary prepares the agenda for meetings to comply with all applicable
rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are
normally sent to the Directors at least three days before the intended date of
a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to the
Directors for their comments before being approved. All minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), all
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Save as disclosed in the “Profile of Directors” set out on pages 20 to 23 of this
annual report, the Directors do not have material financial, business or other
relationships with one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has not had a designated chief executive officer and the
Chairman and the day-to-day management of the Group's business is handled
by the executive Directors collectively. The executive Directors are collectively
accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company's
strategies and the co-ordination of overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of CEO up to the date of this
annual report. In the absence of a CEQ, the duties of the CEO have been/will
continue to be collectively undertaken by all executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming, Mr. Dong Peng and Dr. Su Yaoyao. In the opinion of the
Directors, the present arrangement is effective and efficient.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after their appointment
and be subject to re-election at that meeting; and those Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and be eligible for re-
election.

Moreover, all non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for an initial term of one year, which are renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year from the day immediately
after the expiry of the current terms of their respective appointments,
subject to expiration on the earlier of either (i) the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company in the year of the third anniversary of the
appointment or re-election of that Director; or (i) the expiration of the period
within which the annual general meeting of the Company is required to be
held in the year of the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of
that Director; or (iii) earlier determination in accordance with the Articles and/
or any applicable laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of
any events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the independent non-executive Directors has been impaired up to the date of
this report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
in October 2014 which was amended in December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors, amongst
them, three are independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also
characterized by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Appointment of Directors is based on meritocracy and the Board Diversity
Policy is among the criteria used in selecting members to join the Board.
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In order to achieve Board Diversity, the Company would put further
emphasis on gender balance and gender equality in future recruitments
and identification of potential candidate(s). The Nomination Committee will
discuss and agree annually on the measurable objectives, and recommend
candidate(s) to the Board for adoption. The Company has appointed one
female director on 23 December 2024 to achieve gender diversity. The Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, candidate(s) will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

During the year, in respect of gender diversity at the workforce level (including
senior management), the female employee is about 48%. The Company always
strives to achieve and enhance gender diversity (in terms of gender ratio)
across all levels of the workforce so far as reasonably practicable.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific written
terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit the Company funds in order to obtain
advice from outside legal counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other
expert advice. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee detailing the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka Leung
Daniel. Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings
to review the interim and the annual results, internal control review report, risk
assessment report and change of auditor before their submission to the Board.
The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the
section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.

The audit committee of the Company, which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters including
the review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee detailing the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee
Ka Leung Daniel, a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and Dr. Su Yaoyao. Mr. Wong
Siu Keung, Joe is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee held
2 meetings to review and recommend the proposed emolument of a new
executive Director and the proposed adjustment to the emolument of an
executive Director. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings”
of this report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2025 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with specific
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst
other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, considering the reappointment of the Directors and succession
planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in respect
of the aforesaid matters. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

To comply with the Listing Rules requiring gender diversity on the Nomination
Committee as from 1 July 2025, the Company has appointed a female, namely
Ms. Xie Chunchen, a non-executive Director as a member of the nomination
committee of the Company, which was effective on 30 June 2025. The
Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka Leung
Daniel, two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and Ms. Xie
Chunchen; and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and
Dr. Su Yaoyao. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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The Board adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 21 December 2018 to formally set out the criteria and process on the
selection, nomination and appointment of Directors. According to the
Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment
of Directors rests with the entire Board or the Shareholders in general meeting
as the case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and
evaluation process to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitable
candidates for directorships and recommends them to the Board. In assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate(s), the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidates’ character, integrity, personal attributes
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience and
expertise that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy,
and the ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes, his commitment to devoting adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules (for independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the
Board. After reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates the
relevant candidate(s) to the Board for approval of appointment. The Board will
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee held
2 meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; to
assess the independence of all independent non-executive Directors; to
recommend to the Board on the nomination of retiring Directors for re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company; and to recommend
the proposed appointment of a new executive Director, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee; and
to recommend the proposed appointment of the Chairman. The attendance of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

Upon appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that they are sufficiently aware of
their responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, receive amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company encourages the
Directors to enrol in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
corporate governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 March 2025
to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.

The participation by each Director in continuous professional development for
the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:
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Reading materials relating
to rules and/or attending
trainings and seminars

MEEERAAZMBER
Name of Director EEHA REEEIRAEE
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming RETBUE & v/
Mr. Dong Peng BgkE v
Dr. Su Yaoyao gt 4
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KBEBELE v
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin B FER S A v
Ms. Xie Chunchen HEREZ T
(appointed on 23 December 2024) (202412 A 23 HEZE) v/
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe | LA v
Mr. Chang Chunyu BEEREE v
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel TRBEAE 4
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS HFROgREREOTH

The individual attendance records of each Director at the general meetings & Z£2025F3A3 1B LFEE  KFEEHLFR
and the meetings of the Board and various Committees during the yearended HRAE -EFe@hE&LZE8 e 2@ARNLE
31 March 2025 are set out below: SEEHFINT ¢

Audit Remuneration Nomination

General Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
EEZ® ENZE® FMZEe® REZET
Name of Director EEgg BRAE =f -f -F =L
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFEULAE 22 1/11 - 2/2 2/2
Mr. Dong Peng 15 22 7/M - - -
Dr. Su Yaoyao HRREL 2/2 10/11 - 12 12
Mr. Zhu Yongjun REELAE 2/2 10/11 - 2/2 22
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BrREAE 22 1/ - - -
Ms. Xie Chunchen (Note 1) #ERZLT (M) - 13 - - -
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe EP g 22 10/11 3/3 2/2 2/2
Mr. Chang Chunyu BEMELE 22 10/11 3/3 22 22
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel FRBEE 22 10/11 3/3 22 22
Note: B 5
m Ms. Xie Chunchen was appointed as a non-executive Director on 23 December 2024. (1 BERZEN2024F12 A 23 AEZEAERITES -

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged M IERN &%) BEE S ENEEIUNERE
by means of circulation of written resolutions. EERZRAEE -

33



34

Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& A mEI 2R H R A A

Corporate Governance Report
e SEplekiiaiy

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2025 which gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of the results and cash flows for
year then ended. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025, the Board has selected appropriate accounting policies, applied
them consistently in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable,
and ensured the preparation of the financial statements on the going concern
basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The interim
and annual results of the Company are announced in a timely manner within
the limit of two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the services provided by the Company’s
auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, to the Group and associated
remuneration were as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

Services Rendered Frigfit 2 R3S e ENER
HKS$'000
FAET
Audit of financial statements EIZ B IRER 1,130
Other non-audit services H b IEEAZ RIS 103
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design and
implementation of internal controls and risk management which covers
financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such responsibility to
the management of the Company. The management, under the supervision of
the Board, has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee also
considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

In light of the size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Company does
not establish a separate internal audit department. The Group has engaged
an independent professional firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems annually.
The independent professional firm engaged has performed a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems covering
the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025. The review covered all key
controls and based on inquiry, observation and analytical review procedures
supplemented by testing of transactions, reports and reconciliation. The overall
opinion on the internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, the Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company. Mr. Cheung is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. Mr. Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the year under review and has
complied with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the "EGM Requisitionists”) can deposit
a written request to convene an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) to
the Board at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Office B, 9/F., Pico Tower, 66 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The EGM
Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of the EGM and such
request(s) must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the EGM
Requisitionists.

The Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong will
verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request.
Promptly after their confirmation that the EGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance
with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the EGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists
will be advised of the outcome and a EGM will not be convened as requested.

The EGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-tenth
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM if
within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the EGM Requisitionists’ request,
the Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM provided that any EGM
so convened is held within two (2) months from the date of the original EGM
Requisitionists’ request. An EGM so convened by the EGM Requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals putting
forward for Shareholders’ consideration at Shareholders’ meetings to the Board
in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong as shown
below or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

Office B, 9/F., Pico Tower
66 Gloucester Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries through
the Company’s website and by means of emails to the investor relations
department (email address: ir@baijinlifescience.com). The management always
provides prompt responses to any such enquiries. During the year ended 31
March 2025, there were no changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association. An up-to-date consolidated version of the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association is available on the Company’s
website.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of our shareholders communication policy, it is concluded that
the policy has been effectively implemented.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in December
2018. The Group considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders
to be its goal. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and
capital requirements of the Group and the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also be subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company as well as all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy allows the Board to declare special dividends from time to
time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. There is no guarantee
that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific
periods. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time.

By Order of the Board
Cheung Sze Ming
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 July 2025
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The Directors herein present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Engaged in purchasing,
processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution of jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services, the
provision of skincare solutions, consultation and research and development
services.

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 March 2025 by
operating segment is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's future
business development during the year ended 31 March 2025 are provided
in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 19 of this annual
report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 154 to 168 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 4 of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on its principal activities and the
risk of non-compliance with such laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred, civil
and/or criminal proceedings and reputational damage.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to promoting an environmentally conscious
work place and aims and places significant emphasis on minimising our
environmental impact and to create a more sustainable future for future
generations.

Further discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and policies will be
contained in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2025 which will be published in due course.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 61 of this annual report. The
Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2025.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the section of “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” in the
consolidated financial statements on page 65 of this Annual Report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Company had reserves available for distribution in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands amounted to HK$71,341,000 (2024: HK$35,502,000) which
represented the retained earnings/accumulated losses and share premium.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 43

to 44 of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the year ended 31 March 2025.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 184.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming
Mr. Dong Peng
Dr. Su Yaoyao

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Yongjun
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin
Ms. Xie Chunchen (appointed on 23 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chang Chunyu
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Zhu Yongjun, Mr.
Cheng Chi Kin and Mr. Chang Chunyu, shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Ms. Xie Chunchen who was
appointed as a non-executive Director as an addition to the Board, shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company. Ms. Xie Chunchen, being eligible, offer herself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Article 164(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any of
them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year end 31 March 2025.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against costs, charges,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 23.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
holding companies was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company has been entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors have any interests in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
have any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31
March 2025.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 30 September 2024, the shareholders of the Company had approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”)
at AGM and had also approved the termination of the existing share option
scheme of the Company, which was adopted on 17 October 2014, at the AGM.
Details of the adoptions and termination were disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 30 August 2024 and announcement of the results of the AGM
on 30 September 2024.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme (the "Options”) shall not in aggregate exceed 67,925,226 shares,
being 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of AGM of the
Company held 30 September 2024. Under the New Share Option Scheme,
the Board may offer to grant an option to any of the director(s) or employee(s)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including a person who is granted
options under the New Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries); the
total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all options and
awards and to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury
shares) as at the adoption date of the New Share Option Scheme. The total
number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all options and awards to
be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of
the Company under the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed
10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding the treasury shares) as at
the date of the Shareholders’ approval for the refreshment.
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The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to
the eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant Options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise
price and subject to the other terms of the New Share Option Scheme.

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme. Subject
to certain restrictions contained in the New Share Option Scheme, an option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time during the applicable
option period, which is not more than 10 years from the date of grant of
option. The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
vested shall not be less than twelve (12) months, unless the Board determines
in its sole discretion in certain circumstances as set out in the scheme
document of the New Share Option Scheme. In respect of a participant, unless
otherwise determined by the Board and specified in the grant letter, the Group
and/or grantee shall achieve the performance target(s) set out in the grant
letter before the options can be vested. However, at the time of granting
any option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject
to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without limitation)
those in relation to the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no Options were lapsed, granted,
exercised or cancelled under the New Share Option Scheme. As at the date
of this report, the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of Options yet to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme is
77,239,107, representing approximately 10% of the total number of shares in
issue of the Company (i.e. 772,391,072 ordinary shares).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”), which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Notes:

(i) The ultimate beneficial owners of Ketto Inform Limited (“Ketto"), including Dr. Su (who owns
18% interest in Ketto), have an acting in concert arrangement in terms of exercise of their
rights, pursuant to which Dr. Su exercises control over the entire voting interest of Ketto and
is thus deemed to be interested in the shares the Company held by Ketto.

(i) These shares were directly owned by Ketto in which Ketto is owned by 41 individual ultimate

beneficial owners.

(iii) These underlying shares are 119,863,013 conversion shares which will be issued and allotted
upon full conversion of the convertible bond with principal amount of HK$31,500,000 issued
by the Company to Ketto on 9 February 2024 at the initial conversion price of HK$0.2628 per
share.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 43 to
44 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2025 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
and did not constitute connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Directors are aware, the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who directly or indirectly,
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, which are required to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
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Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing (Note i) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 - 84,088691 Long position 10.8%%
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Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily (Note i) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 - 84088691 Long position 10.89%
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Notes:

(i) These 84,088,691 shares were directly owned by Pacific Wish Limited, which was legally and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing as to 50% and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily as to
50%. As at 31 March 2025, the board of directors of Pacific Wish Limited comprised Mr. Chan
Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

(if) These shares were directly owned by Ketto in which Ketto is owned by 41 individual ultimate

beneficial owners.

(iii) The ultimate beneficial owners of Ketto Inform Limited, including Dr. Su (who owns 18%
interest in Ketto), have an acting in concert arrangement in terms of exercise of their rights,
pursuant to which Dr. Su exercises control over the entire voting interest of Ketto and is thus
deemed to be interested in the shares the Company held by Ketto.

(iv) These underlying shares are 119,863,013 conversion shares which will be issued and allotted
upon full conversion of the convertible bond with principal amount of HK$31,500,000 issued
by the Company to Ketto on 9 February 2024 at the initial conversion price of HK$0.2628 per
share.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, there was no other person
or entity had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

0] BERERAREEEEZ84088691 RRH - M
ZARARKBLTERAERLZEDREERER
A 50% . 50% ° 20253 A3 1A - BERER
NAIZERGHBKB LA R =R TAEK -

(ii) Ketto B ZZ M5 - MKetto 41 BEAARL
Baa ANESR -

(iif) Ketto Inform Limited SR E= B A - BIEHFE L
(HHEA Ketto M) 18% 1 5% ) « EITHBESEF T EHR
—BITEI R HE - IR BRIE IR S Ketto I B IR
HE o T AR A R Ketto T 45 A WO A R B % 9
BHEER -

(v)  ZEEED 5119863013 B AL - #57 2024
F 2 A 9B A A B Al Ketto 3 1T A £ 58 4 31,500,000 78
TLH) AR EFE R ERGRITREE - V15K
RIEARF IR02628 T ©

B EXHEEIN R20255F38318 0 e
Hib ALk ERERARQE KD - FHEERG sk
BEHPHEEERERARRREBE(ESFRBE
BB EBIEREATFE 2 ELMAKE
BITHMEARNRIRB I ERIORE °

BSrEPATE R Z B By

ARRDEESEBIUFFATESRELHR
AIFEIBEREB LS ML 2 FERERK -
E=gC MBI FNTESE B
> WERBRFTIBEL -



CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
the following Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin Appointed as independent non-executive director
of Asiasec Properties Limited (stock code: 271) on
16 April 2024,

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming Resigned as independent non-executive director
of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited (stock code:
524) on 21 November 2024.

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel  Appointed as independent non-executive director
of Hunlicar Group Limited (Stock code: 3638) on 1
February 2025

Save for the above changes, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 March 2025
contributed by the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively are as
follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 14%
— five largest suppliers combined 54%
Sales

—  the largest customer 51%
— five largest customers combined 66%

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) were interested, at any time during the year, in the Group’'s five largest
customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates and the
local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging employees, providing
quality services to customers and collaborating with business associates
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver sustainable products and
services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2025, which will be
published in due course.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibility, performance and comparable market statistics.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as at the date of this report.

FREP KR

HE20055F3A3BILFEE  AEEFEH#
EEMNEFPAREBMEEE DL RIIT

E7
—  mAHER 14%
— BEAA#ER BN 54%
il

mAEF 51%
— BRAAEFZHEA 66%
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2025.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders are
unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised
to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Moore CPA Limited (‘Moore”) resigned as auditors of the Company with effect
from 28 March 2025 and Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited ("Baker Tilly") was
appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 28 March 2025 to fill the
vacancy following Moore’s resignation.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 were
audited by Baker Tilly. A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint Baker Tilly as the independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Cheung Sze Ming
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 July 2025
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited

(formerly known as Affluent Partners Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Baijin Life Science
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Affluent Partners Holdings Limited)
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 61 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

o0 3t 7 Wt 0 (4

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB EE BN ESTNAEEEREEE
Valuation of inventories
FEIGE

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements)

(B2HGEMBREM TS K 18)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's inventories amounted
to HK$70,637,000 and a reversal of impairment loss on
inventories of HK$8,222,000 was recognised by the Group in the
consolidated profit or loss for the year.

72025F3A31H - EEBEZHFEER706370008 7T B
FEREBERES222000ETH BEENAFELR
BRERHER -

The management of the Company estimates the net realisable
values of the inventories and assesses the provisions by
considering several factors. These include the gemological
appraisals conducted by gemologists engaged by the
Company, inventory ageing, the condition of the inventories,
and both historical and current sales information. Additionally,
various market factors, such as changes in prevailing market
conditions, expected trends, and customer demands, are taken
into account. The process of assessing net realisable values
involves significant judgements and estimates, the results are
highly sensitive to anticipated future market conditions and
subsequent inventory sales.
SERRIEBEMRFFENAERFE YR BEESAE
AENTEERS ZEZERERE EQFAEFENELS
FETHEANE  FEREK FERRUALBENE
RIHEERL o hoh - IRERBITHN AHBEREP
BR2EHELEMHEE - AR FENBIRS
REBARHAE LG HERYEPRRTALEERTE
HE S EHUK

We have identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because the amounts of inventories are significant and
the assessment requires significant management judgement
and involves high level of estimation uncertainty.
BRMEREEHERERBEREFFE RERGFER
BMEBEA BAMFTAFSEEREBELERAEB LY &
2 EMAFTHEN -

Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of inventories
included:

BRPEEFEHENEAEFEHE

—  Obtain an understanding of, and evaluate, the Group's
provision policy on inventories;

—  TERIFE SRENTFEREEBCR

—  Review and assess the management’s process of the
estimation of the net realisable values of the inventories;

— EHAEEEBGHFENZ2EFENERF

—  Test the purchase cost of inventories, on sample basis, to the
supporting documents;

— WEARFENRBRANEZRAM

—  Review and evaluating net realisable value of inventories, on
sample basis, with reference to subsequent sales information,
the external price data and estimated costs to be incurred to
make the sale, by tracing to the supporting documents;

— ZEZHENHEER  IRERBBEREEMENMG
STRCZS - 03B MR BA X1 - AR 7 S B AT F
HH) R IR RE

—  Select samples of jewellery items held by the Group as at
31 March 2025, comprising items of different nature and
price, for gemological appraisal carried out by gemologists
engaged by the Company to verify their authenticity and
assess their conditions and valuations as at 31 March 2025;

— g BEEN2055FIANARBTIRAME RERS
ZHKREHEBEKRA B ERRFMBHEIEAERET
BORHE ARBEBKRFMEER2025F3 /43102
RS Bk B

—  Discuss with the gemologists, to understand the gemological
appraisal methodology applied and the key estimates
and challenge the assumptions adopted in their appraisal
and assess their reasonableness and the consistency with
industry norms; and

— BEBUKEETMW - THAEANEAQNGEE
REEME  WHAEETMRABORRKREHLERM
YAHEEAEMERERAERN—HE &

—  Evaluate the objectivity, independence and competence of
the gemologists engaged by the Company.
— W BEAFEANKEETCMOETEMN  BILMR

ak,
BE ©
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Key audit matter

HEETER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EFONEERBER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BT A 18 1

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements)

(BLREFEBERENiES K 17)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Tonnett Group”) amounted to HK$28,363,000
(net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$20,000,000.)
M2025F3A318 E& U B8 Tonnett Julis Holdings
Limited K B BT B8 A &) (#7873 [ Tonnett 52 8 |) 1 2 4 &Y
P32 73 28,363,000 7% 7T (2 1Bk R 51 {8 & 18 20,000,000 7
JT) °

The management of the Group conducted impairment
assessments with the assistance of independent external valuers
by evaluating the recoverable amount of Tonnett Group, to
which the goodwill is allocated, using the value-in-use approach
based on discount cashflow forecasts.

SEEER BB INBEERN Y B N ETTRIERT 4
REENEAERRERERANEREERE  FHE
AL EA Tonnett S BB AT B £ 58 o

The process of assessing the recoverable amount involves
significant judgements and estimates, including assumptions
related to forecasted revenue, discount rates, and growth
rates. The results are highly sensitive to expected future market
conditions and the actual performance of Tonnett Group.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

AP El & B H) B AR S R B R I R (A - BIRETE
BIBA -~ B IRE MR R EFHNMRE - ST AAERE AR
IR R Tonnett R B ERXRB R LB - EERE
AKBEMEBENTEHE - e @ELERNRERE -

We have identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as
a potential key audit matter as the impairment assessment of
goodwill involves significant degree of management’s estimates
and judgements and the carrying amount of the goodwill is
significant to the Group.
BPERBAENRENGEEREEMRESEE R
HABENRENGIREREELDERMG RAE -
EREnNREEN S£EM=EBEK-

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
goodwill included:

BPEERERENGNETZFEE

—  Obtain an understanding of the key control in relation to the
impairment assessment of goodwill, including the process of
preparation of the future cash flow projections;

— THREFEBERENGEENEZEZEH  BEARRS
REFRRNREEIE

—  Evaluate the objectivity, independence and competence of
the independent external valuer;

—  AHMEBIIMREER R EEE B RS

—  Discuss with the management and independent external
valuer to understand the valuation methodologies and
key estimates and assumptions adopted, including but not
limited to, yearly growth rates of revenue and gross margin
by reference to the historical performance, future business
plan of the Group as well as industrial trends;

— HEBERBUIINBEERNGR - TRGET AR
Rz F2RRRE  BHEETRNZR E5E
BERE  AREXBKFERTEBEMAEZRAER
EMRFERRE

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation methodology,
and assess the reasonableness of the significant assumptions
adopted in the valuation;

— FHMEREFTENESENE YA EETPRANEER
RS

—  Challenge the judgement and estimates made by the
management and independent external valuer regarding
the factors considered during the assessment; and

— HERERBUINMEERMETHBERETMEEEE
B FIE R et R R R -

—  Test the mathematical accuracy of the underlying value-in-
use calculation.

— AEMERGEEMERTTENREERE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HEEtERE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EFNNEERBER

Valuation of trade receivables

ERES 1 E

(Please refer to Notes 5, 19 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements)

(B2 A BEHRENGES ~ 19K350))

As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables of the Group amounted
to HKS$25,088,000 (net of allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") of HK$10,270,000).

202563 A31H - & & B #)fE W E X /& 25088,000 %
7T (B 1R 102700008 T2 FEEAE EEE ((AHEER
B -

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and
the sufficiency of the allowance for ECL.
SERREBREYHRKRER 2 ATl EE RFEHEEBERE
2 7R T E AT -

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.
BEREBEAEHRMEERENEREFETEREERE
(BN

For remaining debtors, they are grouped based on similar credit
risk characteristics, with reference to the regions and industries
of debtors, for a collective assessment. The expected loss rates
are derived by taking into consideration historical default
rates, ageing of debtors, and are adjusted for reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information available. At each
reporting date, the rates are reassessed with consideration of
any changes in the forward-looking information.
HRHBTHEBAMES  EREBEEBANME R1TER
BUGEERREES A  ETHRFE - BEEEX
TS RBEENR  BURERERRMEL  IeR
REBBXBOABELEMEL AR REREEH
BERXEKERARIEEN 2 ERZ SR EHTHE -

Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of trade receivables
included:

BPAEEREERGENETIZFEE

Obtain an understanding on the key controls over managing
and monitoring credit risk and assessing allowance for ECL;
THREBNEREERBARTEEBEERREE
B E B

Evaluate management’s process in grouping of trade
receivables, and identification of significant and/or
credit-impaired balances;
TEEREBHBRERETEE REHNEAR SE
EREAROIZT

Test, on a sample basis, the accuracy and completeness
of the ageing analysis of trade receivables against source
documents including evidence of delivery and sales invoices;
VAR R 77 308 5 R W & SR BR e 0 AT B RR U4 (B4
RN EEMEEES) 2 HRERIEMTEM
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETNNEERBER

We have identified valuation of trade receivables as a key
audit matter because the assessment required significant
management judgement and involved a high level of
estimation uncertainty.
BRMEBEEERNHEREESEREBTEE  RER
FRNATSEEREFELERAE IHRSEMFT
FEENE

Assess the reasonableness of expected loss rates under
the ECL model by examining the information used by
management to form its judgements and estimates,
including historical default data, credit history, payment
delays, settlement records, and the ageing analysis of
debtors;

FRBLEREBFLANLMAEANER  BRBEE
WBIE - FERE NHRER  GECHEREBAR
o HEEREEFEERA TRABERXNSE
1

Evaluate the reasonableness of the forward-looking
information considered by management; and

AHAEEEERHAIEEERNGELE &

Test the mathematical accuracy of the allowance for ECL on
trade receivables.

AR R EREREEBBRENBEERE -
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 were audited by another independent auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 31 July
2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion solely to you, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

M B

%%Eﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁ%?ﬁ%%i
H

BMZBR SHGAVBHRRBEEREDT T
FHEARRFFRERM G 2 ERHERBR M
REAERE LHAHARMREZET
EZ W ERFIERMBRRERE R 2 Z BN R
BRI AN E AT BIEE M A& - 3
PR ARE AT HERMEMALTARSR
EEET - ARRE/BKFRE BIEE
RELRRBEBENFRAETZEFERX—F
R B8 RR R 77 FE B AR RE 3R o $H AR RO AT i
HMEFEE R MA ETRHEEFAER
ARFEFEMBRREMEGERETES
ISR 2 ERTE - Al B BSERKR
AMATWAEEEAX -

ERBEEEETEAETET 2BES -
MERFTEHBRRFEFERET - B M
I

st Bl Ko ¥ f BB 0 HRBF oK 88 BR 1 B BUAR
BUBHRRFEEABRRMLZ AR -
Rt RBTEARRFAREZERR
ARIERE B MEE 2 BRHBE - ER
BFERZER - ARNRFFAI RS R &
womE FEER  EREGSGER
M ERFR S - BMORBE R A MFEM S E
KB BT 2 BB SR AR IR A R
B E AR 2 AR -

THRERERFTARR 2 NEMES] - ARRETE
BRBATBEE ZEFEF BEW
WY BERBEARIEGZAREER
BR-

FEEEMRASITHRZREEAR
EHEFH A REEREZ AN -

LHEERAKBELZ S ERZIRE L
B &R - ARRBAREGZEERE
HEROFEESFHEIBRAEEAIEXN
THEEMN KMAIENYE BSKRERF
BREBENELERRE - HRMABAR
FEEATHENE  RAEZBRIRES
hiREEREIBEAMBEHRERP 2A
BAHER (NEBRETR) & HIFER
BER Bz wmERBERBMR
SEMILAERBZEERE - A K
KERSIBENAEER BEEEEER

B o



Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& A mEI 2R H R A A

Independent Auditor’s Report
TSI AZ T

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit and obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basic for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine the matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe the matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Del Rosario, Faith Corazon.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Del Rosario, Faith Corazon
Practising certificate number P06143

Hong Kong, 25 July 2025

B B Bl o 7 WA U R AR
B AL (4)

FEGAVBHRR CEBRBIBIA &
BRAR  BERE UARESMER
REEAETERBBBIZLEE -

RERAITEEEN  EERNEREX
EBBU W BENERTRE BEZ
BHRE (ERYE ESEMBHmERT
RERONER -RMBEERE EEBM
EHREETAENMATOETT
fF-BAABRFIBERAEZHEE -

BPEEREEE (ETBRE) il o Et#
ERkEEZFARBRREHE  BHEEM
FEFEET PR h A RRE S 2 (LA EARERE

BATRAERERREZR SRARMESHE
BB M HAEXERER A AI6E
BEMERRETERMELIEZ A BIE
REMER - AR (@A) &HEEREE MK
B2z THSRM 2 BEREERE R SRR -

HERERRZEHY  RMETHES
AR E M BRI &R AE R I A Ak R R
B FHRZERE -BMSESBERETY
ZEEBREHHA  BRIPOERRIERTAF
ARBEZEEE  SEBBFRZBERT
MR A ERME MR ERIEL BRESEK
ZINEREBBARARBEMEEZ AR
@ BPERETERSHIHEZEE -

EAB IR RE R ADER AR
i

ABBEREHOEBRBRAT
BE BT AT

EHE
HEFERIP06143

& 20257 A25H



Annual Report 2025 R 61

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

w/T I:lj: \i%

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

2025 2024
2025 20245
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FTEx FEIT
Revenue A 6 135,556 53,676
Cost of sales HERK (93,570) (35,576)
Gross profit EF 41,986 18,100
Other gains, net Hiblhzs - ¥ 8 11,774 484
Reversal of allowance for expected BoemEECBBEERE
credit losses on financial assets, net R FRE 9 1,560 403
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE 17 (20,000) -
Selling expenses HERXT (3,070) (1,214)
Administrative expenses TR X (34,248) (27,349)
Operating loss HEEE (1,998) (9576)
Finance income B sz 30 1,599 1323
Finance costs IR I 30 (966) (276)
Finance income, net B iU e - JFER 633 1,047
Loss before income tax MRATSHAIER 9 (1,365) (8,529)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfise, (FAx) 11 1,278 (16)
Loss for the year rEEERE (87) (8,545)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributableto: LA T A L FE{L (B18),E7 :
Owners of the Company RRBERA (316) (7,448)
Non-controlling interests FEPEIR M 229 (1,097)
(87) (8,545)
Loss per share BRER 12 HK cents HK cents
AL il

Basic AR (0.05) (1.15)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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(NI TS

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Loss for the year REEEE (87) (8,545)
Other comprehensive expense: Ht2mAx :
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to B A[fEEF D EE Bz 2 HH
profit or loss
— Exchange difference on translation of —HREBINER CEREZR
foreign operations (1,205) (2,100)
Item that will not be reclassified to profitorloss T & E# D EEEzm 2 HA
— Remeasurements of retirement benefit —EFFERKENER
obligations (123) -
Other comprehensive expense fortheyear, RNEEFHM MBS - BB BHE
net of tax (1,328) (2,100)
Total comprehensive expense fortheyear AEEZHEHXHALE (1,415) (10,645)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income LTALESEZE (X)),
for the year attributable to: Wim4a%E
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ ZS DN (1,525) (9,548)
Non-controlling interests IEFE RS HE 2R 110 (1,097)
(1,415) (10,645)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o B IR DL

At 31 March 2025 7202593 A831H

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M F&T FHT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WELEE 14 6,910 6,839
Intangible assets mEE 15 5,906 7,346
Right-of-use assets CREEE 16 9,931 1,944
Goodwill EES 17 28,363 48,363
Deposits and prepayments B RIEMNHIE 19 11,129 10,954
Deferred tax assets EETIREE 31 937 36
63,176 75,482
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 70,637 44,340
Trade receivables U E R 19 25,088 15,037
Other receivables, deposits Ha R - e R
and prepayments TET IR 19 82,657 23,205
Contract assets BHEE 20 843 854
Cash and cash equivalents RehERBES 21 47,773 37,884
226,998 121,320
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables ERER 22 8,343 7,874
Other payables and accruals HEM N RA L ERE A 22 19,418 16,306
Contract liabilities aHERE 23 3,042 4,753
Lease liabilities HERE 24 5,079 1,112
Bank borrowings IRITER 25 8,560 5,421
Other borrowings HMER 26 4,000 4,000
Tax payable FES IR 1,281 1,528
49,723 40,994
Net current assets RBEEFE 177,275 80,326
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 240,451 155,808
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
#r e R IR

At 31 March 2025 20253 H31H

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
Notes HK$’'000 HKS$'000
M F&T FHT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 7,006 948
Convertible bond Al (E 27 75,282 39,712
Retirement benefit obligations RKEHEE 28 773 466
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEA E 31 1,513 1,890
84,574 43016
Net assets EEFE 155,877 112,792
EQUITY =
Share capital &N 29 15,448 13,585
Reserves i 123,835 82,723
Equity attributable to owners RRRHAE ANEGER
of the Company 139,283 96,308
Non-controlling interests FEE M 16,594 16,484
Total equity R 155,877 112,792

The consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to 183 were approved and 61 £ 183 B Fi &l 2 42 A B B R KR 2 02025
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 July 2025 and are signed  F7A2sHEEE g4 & R EETE - W H

on its behalf by: THEERERESE -
Cheung Sze Ming Su Yaoyao
RS BER
Executive Director Executive Director

HITEF HITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A W i S B 2%

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LSNCTE 2PN L
Share Non-
Share Share  Translation option Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

BAx  ROHEE EXfE BRERE RHEB @i FERES s
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T TR TEL TEL T T

(Note 29) (note (3)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(Ptskoe) (M@ (W) (W)

Balances at 1 April 2023 RNBF4A1H

28 12,786 619,130 (1574) 8753 (560807) 78288 - 78288
Loss for the year TEEHE - - - - (7448) (7:448) (1,097) (8,545)
Other comprehensive expense  Eft1 2 EIF %7 - - (2,100 - - (2,100 - (2,100

Total comprehensive expense  REE2ER L
forthe year fo% - - (2,100 - (7.449) (9548) 109 (10649)

Issue of shares (Note 29(a)) BIkRH

(B3 2960) 799 26,769 - - - 27,568 - 27,568

Lapsed of share options BRELN - - - (8753) 8753 - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries KRB AR - - - - - - 16,384 16,384
Contribution from non- REFEERER

controlling interests T4 - - - - - - 1197 1197

Balances at 31 March 2024and 120243 A31H
1 April 2024 R204F4R1R
pa1 13,585 645,899 (3,674) - (559,502) 96,308 16,484 112,792

(Loss)/profitfor the year rEE (BB

gl - - - - (316) (316) 229 (87)
Other comprehensive expense £ {2 EH X - - (1,086) - (123) (1,209) (119) (1,328)
Total comprehensive FEEZA
(expense)/income (X)) W&
for the year @ - - (1,086) - (439) (1,525) 110 (1,415)

Issue of shares (Note 29(b)  EFTR
(MzE200) 1,863 42,637 - - - 44,500 - 44,500

Balancesat31March 2025 #2025 3 A31H
&8 15,448 688,536 (4,760) - (559941) 139,283 16,594 155,877
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2 /N 3L &
MR A ) R
For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

Notes:

(a) Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the proceeds received over

the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

(b) Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of certain subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from
that of presentation currency.

(© Share option reserve represents the portion of grant date fair value of the actual or estimated

number of unexercised share options of the Company.

@) AARRGEEREBERMSREBBARFEH
TR 2 EEZHD

b)) EARFGERELABREESTHEBAR(RMER
WHESIEETR) M BRRZAEIEZFE -

©  BRERBEAARRITEBRE 2 ERKMGE
BzZREAHATFEZESD
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
OB ER

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTEx FAET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEELECHEESRE
Loss before income tax BRET{S TR E 1B (1,365) (8529)
Adjustments for: MTIEBEEL 2 A%
Finance income sl 30 (1,599) (1323)
Finance costs BFH PR AR 30 966 276
Depreciation of property, plant and M BE REETE
equipment 9 2,223 465
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREENE 9 2,999 1,259
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 9 1,440 205
Reversal of allowance for expected credit BBl & REE 2 FEHEE
losses (“ECL") on financial assets, net EE((FEREERE]D
B ¥R 9 (1,560) (403)
Reversal of impairment loss on BEfFERERSE  F&8
inventories, net 9 (8,222) (12,840)
Provision for/(reversal of) retirement iR/ (B E) BIKEF
benefit obligations, net BEfF - FE 184 @2n
Loss/(gain) on change in fair value of MR ESNAFEZE
convertible bond IV (1451\*/\ 8 4,482 (2,997)
Gain on change in fair value of Profit w A REE 2 A EEE
Guarantee (defined in Note 36) Iz (E & RM5E36) 8 (10,882) -
(Reversal of)/impairment loss on PR REZ
prepayments for pearls (@), BEEE 8 (724) 2,284
Write-off/impairment loss on property, WisH RERBEME -
plant and equipment and right-of-use BREEBERERESEE
assets 8 30 197
Impairment on goodwill EERE 17 20,000 -
Gain on early termination of REZGEHEEH 2 W=
lease contracts (88) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHMB AR K& 8 (4,048) -
Operating cash flows before working & EESEE AT~
capital changes @Mﬁ%ﬁ = 3,836 (21,427)
Changes in working capital: EEESE
Inventories 78 (18,271) 15,231
Trade and other receivables, deposits JE W E SR N H At FE UK
and prepayments BRX - e RTENHIE (21,992) (2,230)
Trade and other payables and accruals ﬁéﬁ%ﬁiﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
K& R 7,847 (1,358)
Contract assets GHEE 11
Contract liabilities BHBE (1,711) 3,345
Cash used in operations 48 P A iﬁ & (30,280) (6,439)
Income tax paid BAEH (247) (18)
Net cash used in operating activities REEBFERAZRES TR (30,527) (6,457)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTEx FHET
Cash flows from investing activities REZHEECEESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B8 E ¥ % - &= K& & (2,445) (179)
Interests received B U F 8 1,599 1,323
Net cash inflows arising from acquisition of 2 & U & — R B B 2 &)
a subsidiary EEZReRANFE - 3,598
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETEE (FTA) EEz
investing activities REeFHE (846) 4,742
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHEECRERE
Interest paid 2R E (504) (159)
Payment for interest portion of HEBGENEHD 2
lease liabilities (462) (95)
Payment for principal portion of HEBBARESH D TR
lease liabilities (982) (1,144)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITE TS FIE 8,560 2,000
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITER (5,421) -
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN TS F0E 40,220 -
Advance from non-controlling shareholders ;K EERZY e N0k EN = 217
Net cash generated from financing METHEECRETFE
activities 41,411 819
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRERRSEM
and cash equivalents (R2) F8 10,038 (896)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYzReRERRS
of the year 37,884 41,261
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEERED) L& (149) (2,481)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FR7BSRERRS
of the year, represented by bank (RRTEBRASERT)
balances and cash 47,773 37,884
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 1 B 5 A P

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited (the “Company’, formerly known as
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited, collectively with its subsidiaries, the
“Group’) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13 May 2014 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap
22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Its shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 17 October 2014. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal
place of business is Office B, 9/F, Pico Tower, 66 Gloucester Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are (i) design and sales of jewellery products, (ii) real estate
financial assets investments, in addition with the new principal activities
engaged in, (iii) sales of skincare products under the brand name “FO’,
provision of professional scientific research services and provision of
franchise licensing and consultation services, which were acquired
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

On 9 February 2024, the Group completed the acquisition of Tonnett
Julis Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Tonnett
Group”), thus, Tonnett Group has been consolidated to the Group since
then. Tonnett Group contributed the new principal activities as stated
above.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
stated.

1

— i & B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Compliance with HKFRS Accounting Standards and
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA”")
and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("HKCO") Cap. 622.

HKFRS Accounting Standards comprises the following authoritative
literature:

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
Hong Kong Accounting Standards
Interpretations developed by the HKICPA.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost basis, except for certain financial instruments which are measured
at fair values, at the end of reporting period.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions have
been used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group'’s annual period beginning
on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards listed above in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end
of the year. Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

OF 4007 i] B A% 15 6T A v 0 5
e L) 6t e

AR AP FE TR 1) A K 0 AR A BT AV B
it ot 1 J o o B

RAFE  AEBEEXER T HE
B A SEME N 20245418
B 4A 2 7 £ [ 4F 2 H R 54 ) A A D A8 18
IRV BREELN S ER  URER
REMIEMRE

BRI EER
F165% (BT AK)
BEREENE 1R BRABIBR/RDH

EREENHERRE

CCHEN) ERB LB ERE
55 (2020F) By
BEEE]
ERGHENE 1R HEZENIERS
CCHEN) BfE
ERSHERNE7R HERRELH
REBHHREE

BIFE 75 (BRI AS)

BRI EN  RAFERM EXMIIZ
RIETEEMBRE LG ERE AN
SERNAFEMBEFENIBARR R
RBN/ AR EGRAVERRAEOR
BYEBATE -

VB R 7 i A B 5 1 9% (T )
a1 SR 20 S 0 8D T 0 D e A o
FERESE 5 9% (202048 My AH B A& 5T
(120204 B 5T A 1) R s & st e Hl
5B 1R (BT AC) B4 S8 iy JE i )
ff ([2022 8 BT A )) Z 5%

REBRAFEERERZFERIAN -

2020 FERT ARB LR A HRTEEE
BEBMRRD T —EANENRLE
BREEMES B EBEDERRE K
R BERERE:

FHAERENERFENERN
DR/RBHIERE o ABME
ZORTEXEEEET @A
NEBRENERNRFERMTE -

71



74

Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited & & 4 @

AEEBEARA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Ao A B R B aE

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

3

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments
to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of cash,
goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the 2022
Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting period
affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant
is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also
specify that covenants with which an entity must comply after the
reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification of
a liability as current or non-current at the reporting date. However, if
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period. This would include
information about the covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity
may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued but not yet adopted by the Group

The following new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
have been published that are not mandatory for the Group'’s financial
periods beginning 1 April 2024 and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

HKFRS 18

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Contract Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards will have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.
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3

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of
the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made. HKFRS 18,
and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application permitted.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently adopted to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

(@

Consolidation

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS Accounting
Standards.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@

(ii)

Consolidation (Continued)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquire over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in
the profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances, unrealised gain on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intercompany transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of acquisition
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
March. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwiill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
("€GU") or groups of CGU that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units. Impairment is determined by
assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU or groups
of CGU to which the goodwill relates. If the recoverable
amount of the CGU or group of CGU is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit or
group of CGU and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU or groups of
CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(iii)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

(b) Foreign currency translation

(@

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the functional currency). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKS$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are generally recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a net basis
within ‘other gains, net’.
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4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the rate
on the dates of the transactions); and

(o) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

©)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign operations are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful lives from the date
on which they are available for use and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 25% to 33%
Plant and machinery 20% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%
Computers 33%

An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. The assets residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
other losses net in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

The Group’s backlog contracts arise from acquisition of Tonnett
Group detailed in Note 36, have finite useful life and are amortised
on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

The Group's trademark arises from acquisition of Tonnett Group
detailed in Note 36, has an indefinite useful life and are not
amortised. The Group reviews the useful life of such an asset each
reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for that
asset. The Group tests an intangible asset with an indefinite useful
life for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount with its
carrying amount annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired.
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4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGU). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of
each reporting period.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

(e)

®

T4 il B E 2 A

MAETMEGRBEREE B RA
THENTELEZREEN &
mAWE - AEMZEEALR
B-REBBREE2EmMER
HEAKB B2 EER A
WElSHERIBEEEZ AFERE
HEXRAMEREEURSES
#) B EREMmS  BEBIN
AHpEEREZR/NEEMAR
- RBEREZIFEREE (B
BRRHN) BESREHREMRE
B4 2 AT get o

TR

cHEERCHMABEESEER
BAeeMTAANKEXZEHA
KER - BESREEZERE
EER S AMAERRARKIE
RoFHEBRTEEMSRN
HEPIMERRARNEE .S
BMEEEE -

CREERERBEVIFEATF
FrE WEPANEEZEIN
ERONTREBRST B RS ER
SHRIBEFEHNRAIGFER
GholEERBEITIREELS B
BEEAFEFAERZ ((EAF
Bt ABR]) 2 eREERSR
BERIIN BEEBM TS
RUTHERETANNESRME
EXemads AT E (nEA) -
WHERATEFAEGZCERME
EXcRBBEEEERGE IR K
BN R 18 25 NFERR ©

3o m |-H>

83



34

Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& A mEI 2R H R A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B B A M

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts an payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets (including trade receivables and other receivables),
and other items (including contract assets) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
or 180 days past due for jewellery business segment and
skincare business segment, respectively, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined

atinitial recognition.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each separate group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 HARGFIBERE R ()

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (Continued) 6 «&mTA(H
Financial assets (Continued) EREE ()
Derecognition of financial assets BUHER & E
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the AEEENRBEERFRERE

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
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Classification as debt or equity DHEAEFRER

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
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contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability NDEATHREEIES
and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments BRI A

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the Group
has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution and
redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

BuTAEZENRMAREAR
’&%éFZTJﬁ%%ﬁZEHm’?
« g

Fﬁ?%ﬂ(lﬁ (%&?DB@ET??E?
%J’/{ﬁﬁu/u °©

TRRR)

}ET A (REARETRERA
ReRAMEMAEZ ANES -
SR B A A B R R
EEL 5 R R IEEAS ) 85
BARRTE -

BOARRES EEaIAE®EH
BERERTEIANLIA - BA -
HE BITXTHARABEZ
BETAZREHEEBRTER
B R o



Annual Report 2025 R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 1 B 5 A P

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, (ii)
held for trading or (jii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of changes in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities that
contain embedded derivatives, such as convertible bond, the
changes in fair value of the embedded derivatives are excluded in
determining the amount to be presented in other comprehensive
income. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s
credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they
are transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, other borrowings,
trade payables, other payables and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Convertible bond

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value and the convertible bond
are designated as at FVTPL. In subsequent period, changes in
fair value are recognised in profit or loss as fair value gain or loss
except for changes in the fair value that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk (excluding changes in fair value of the derivatives
component) is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to the
credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, they are transferred
to accumulated losses upon derecognition.

4 HEREEBORE B (4])

()

4 b TR (40
EEMAERES (8
BAFPHEGABBZEMEE (F)

FLIETE S A E ABE
MABENS TREBEEER
m@éi%&%ﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ@i
BEREMEERSER  RIER
HemiaERREEERAR
m@m%%%ﬁiiﬁkﬁmm
SFfHEE - HEBERAAITET
EMemaE (WrRBRES) m
%'ﬁkﬁﬁiiﬂﬂiﬁﬁﬁ
THAEEEMEZE RIS 2
Z@%oamﬁmiﬁﬁmﬁm
ZEBBEEFERREERFE
e HRITeEHN 7 BERR
RMgrXIEReRaERE
BERFER -

E’]?}Z

BREBHEAATEZEBAE

TREBE (BRBITENR  HibE
FoBNER EMAENERR R
HERB) RERRBERNXZX
REHR AN E -

iR EF

THHE BE%ES

RET R{TET
E\% i’]?ﬁ’&?fﬁﬁﬁw
P f&

i /] #

JIfR - MERHE RRAEE
R Ee s BN FEZES (TE
EOTETARONAFEZS) R
Hit 2 E B S ERIN - 2 FA
BREBEAER R FERES
B - BRI R 2 W e P
%@%EHAQEW%%QBATEA
REKEIERNGRTHA - NEM
’iﬁuﬁlf‘ﬁqﬂ?ﬁwﬁﬁlf%ﬂﬁ El
iﬂ’]’&%‘“fﬁ """"" EHEERTEEH D

BERm RENKLERSE
BEREEH



Annual Report 2025 R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o BB i Mk

w/T

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond (Continued)

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes interest
incurred on the convertible bond and is included in “other gains/
losses” line item.

Transaction costs relating to the issue of the convertible bond are
charged to profit or loss immediately.

When determining the classification of convertible bond (including
the host liability and the related derivative components) as
current or non-current, the Group considers both the redemption
through cash settlement and the transfer of the Group’s own
equity instruments as a result of exercise of conversion options by
holders as settlement of the convertible bond.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(®

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured
at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as finance cost.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

\)

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to
the extent it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(@

(ii)

Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

0

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 HWARGFIECRER (M)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(k) Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is

I/«

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “contro

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(k) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’ s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Sale of jewellery products

Revenue from sales of jewellery product is generally recognised at
a point in time when control of the goods has been transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the specific location
(upon delivery of goods) and the customer acceptance has been
obtained, being when the customer has the ability to direct the
use of these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of these products.

Sales of skincare products

Revenue from sales of skincare products is recognised at a point
in time when control of the goods has been transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the specific location
(upon delivery of goods) and the customer acceptance has been
obtained, being when the customer has the ability to direct the
use of these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of these products.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 HAREGFIBERE R ()

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(k) Revenue from contracts with customers K) HZPaHBA(E)
(Continued)
Scientific research services BH AR 75

The Group offers scientific and pharmaceutical research to
customers. Revenue from scientific research services is recognised
over time as the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and allow the Group to have
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Franchise licensing services

Franchise licensing services represent the franchising of the
skincare product brand to third parties. The franchise grants the
user exclusive rights to sell the products for an agreed period,
typically a one-year term. The Group accounts for the grant of the
franchise as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue
from franchise licensing services is recognised over the franchising
period on a straight-line basis.

Others service income

Other services mainly consist of service fee from the provision of
technical research consulting services, individual skincare services
and consulting services related to beauty care and marketing.
Revenue from these services is recognised over time as the
Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and allow the Group to have an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

)

Retirement benefits scheme

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC
based employees of the Group participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries.

These plans are a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute 20% (2023: 20%) of the average basic salary
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future
retired PRC based employees payable under the plans described
above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no
further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the PRC government.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (“MPF Scheme"), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant
aggregate income subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month,
effective from 1 June 2014. The assets of this pension scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.
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4 HEREEBORE B (4])

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

)

(m)

Retirement benefits scheme (Continued)

For Long Service Payment ("LSP") obligation, the Group accounts
for the employer MPF contributions expected to be offset as
a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP obligation
in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The
estimated amount of future benefit is determined after deducting
the negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from the
relevant employees.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of its
employees (including the directors).

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share options
are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).

All services received is ultimately recognised as an expense in
profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions apply,
or recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the
share options granted vest immediately unless the expense
qualifies for recognition as asset, with a corresponding increase
in “Share option reserve” within equity. If service or non-market
performance conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number
of share options expected to vest. Non-market performance
and service conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of share options that are expected to vest. Estimates are
subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the number
of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share option reserve.

@

(m)

SR P At ) (4)

REHARSEET(REAREE
BEEDME AEEREEES
ST RIS 19.93(a) 6 TR HIIE 85 2
BERBSHFIERSEEY
RHRBEEZHZK  LEF
BEEAKR - KR@ENZ B2
BIOIRMB B ANEEREDSHR
FREETCHEBEE ZR5TEM
PREEMBERBKRARETE
M F & BB SERREE 2K -

ARG A B FORET B 2 i
RREERT -

VLB 77 B R Ak

AEEREER (BRESR)ZH
B2 @ R ARt & o

P IR BUR T (T 17 8 A HE 0 AR
BOEERAFEFE - WDH2E
PRI TRBREQ P ENRZREE
HEERXEL AHFELHGRE
o] Al 75 B2 3 T 45 2% 3R 55 BB R F ()
e BMENRHEEERER) W

=2 up
2

HEBIEREER S WBZRA
REEFERNEBHNEaBERR
B3 - BE PTI B AR B B
BE ARELEBEHEEERR
P - HEMABRX A ERER
REEERRIN A EHER A
2[R RSCHE k) AR FE S 00 o 114 AR
BRIFEMBRBEFEER - Bl
HENRBECBRERE 2&E
EEREBHANERFAX - &
BB 2 BB EH R
BET ROET 5 R I R AR R 1 -
HEERBRBERERRE 2B
BEH B BRI N BEMT AR
HRRETEA - EFTRABFHA
TE (WA RNERER RER
AR X RBREIEET AT - AR
ARBIREREE -

103



104 Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited &£ m R 2ERER A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B B A M

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Share-based payments (Continued)

()

Where a grant of share options is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the grant is recognised immediately. This includes
any grant where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to
the nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share
capital with any excess being recorded as share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases at inception of the
contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 HAREGFIBERE R ()
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(n) Leases (Continued) (n) FE ()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4 HEREEBORE B (4])

(n) Leases (Continued) (n) FE ()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(n) Leases (Continued)

o 1 B 5 A P

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 HEREEBORE B (4])

(m) ME (4)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease (see below for the
accounting policy for “lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The associated
non-lease components are included in the respective lease
components.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o) Related parties

(@)

Or

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) as control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(iif)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(p) Fair value measurement

The Group measures the fair value of its convertible bond at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(p) Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to these fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

Level2 — based on Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level 3 — based on Inputs for the asset or liability that are

not based on observable market data (that is
unobservable inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires
the directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the adoption of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expense. The Group would evaluate
ageing analysis as to identify the slow-moving inventories. The Group
would also estimate the net realisable value of inventories based
primarily on the latest market price, current market conditions and
subsequent selling price with assistance from independent professional
gemologists engaged by the Group, and make allowance for inventories
when the Group identified items of inventories which have net realisable
values that is lower than their carrying amounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of inventories (Continued)

Net realisable value could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer’s taste and competitors actions in response to severe industry
cycles, such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and
provision charge/reverse in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2025, the net carrying amount of inventories
was HK$70,637,000 (2024: HK$44,340,000). The management of the
Company determined that net reversal of impairment loss on inventories
amounting to HK$8,222,000 (2024: net reversal of allowance of
HK$12,840,000) was recognised in consolidated profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the value-in-use and
fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows, a material impairment
loss may arise. At 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$28,363,000 (2024: HK$48,363,000) with HK$20,000,000 (2024: nil) of
impairment loss recognised during the year. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 17

ECL assessment on trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually.

For remaining debtors, they are grouped based on similar credit risk
characteristics, with reference to the regions and industries of debtors,
for a collective assessment. The expected loss rates are derived by taking
into consideration historical default rates, ageing of debtors, and are
adjusted for reasonable and supportable forward-looking information
available. At each reporting date, the rates are reassessed with
consideration of any changes in the forward-looking information.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ECL assessment on trade receivables (Continued)

The above assessments require management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and allowance/reversal for ECL in the period in which the
estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting period.
As at 31 March 2025, the net carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$25,088,000 (2024: HK$15,037,000). The management of the Company
determined that net reversal of allowance for ECL on trade receivables
amounting to HK$2,558,000 (2024: HK$413,000) were recognised in
consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite life has suffered any impairment. Other non-financial assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on the higher of
value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal. Judgement is required
to determine key assumptions adopted in the valuation models for
impairment review purpose. Changing the assumptions selected by
management in assessing impairment could materially affect the
result of the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to recognise
additional impairment charge in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

REVENUE

Revenue from sales of jewellery products and skincare products
represents the amounts received and receivable from customers in
respect of goods sold less returns and allowances.

Revenue from provision of different types of services is recognised based
on relevant services and contract terms.

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

6

B A
HEKEERNESRZWAERLER
B R EWE P 2 FIERRE RIT -
RERBTRBEERSE 2 WA TIIRER
B AR TS K A 40 IR R TERR o

FRAEHERIAEERALT :

2025 2024
2025 F 2024
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F&ET FET
Revenue within the scope of HKFRS 15: ERUKREERE1SHKEAER
ZBA
Recognised at a point in time REEERER
Sales of jewellery products HEKEE®R 115,191 50,348
Sales of skincare products HEEEm 9,930 1,474
125,121 51,822
Recognised over time BEEFEERER
Consultation services RS 5,557 1,009
Franchise licensing services TS S R RS 3,867 599
Scientific research services B AR 1% 1,011 246
10,435 1,854

135,556 53,676
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

7

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments have been determined based on the
information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker of the Group, that are used for
performance assessment and to make strategic decisions. The Group's
operating businesses are structured and managed separately according
to the nature of their operations and the products and services they
provide. Each of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of other operating segments.
Upon completion of the acquisition of Tonnett Group on 9 February
2024, the Group currently has three operating segments:

(@) Jewellery business Design and sales of jewellery products

(b)  Strategic investment Real estate financial assets

investments
(c)  Skincare business Sales of skincare products under
the brand name “FO", provision
of professional scientific research
services and provision of franchise
licensing and consultation services

The executive directors of the Company assess the performance of
the operating segments based on a measure of segment results. This
measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure
and corporate expenses from the operating segments. Other information
provided to the executive directors is measured in a manner consistent
with that in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7 SEER (4)
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment revenue, result, assets, REFEIZEED ‘E‘B%Jﬁz—fzm&iﬁ 7 EBUL
liabilities and other selected financial information by operating segments A XEBEEE BERAMETVBE
are as follows: Bz ot T -
Jewellery Strategic Skincare
business investment business Total
REXK RHIRE EWER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET THET TET

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2025F3H31ALEE
Segment revenue DA 115,191 - 20,365 135,556
Finance income g AN 65 1,077 457 1,599
Segment profit/(loss) AR (EE) 20,888 4,351 (25,122) 117
Finance costs B AR (966)
Unallocated other gains, net Aol EmdeE  FHE 6,609
Unallocated administrative expenses 7k 2 B 1T BB 52 (7,125)
Loss before income tax BRETEH AT AR (1,365)
Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 EZ202453A31HILEE
Segment revenue BEA 50,348 3328 53676
Finance income B Wi 27 1,282 14 1323
Segment profit/(loss) PEBEF(BE) 4070 444 (5,148) (634)
Finance costs AR (276)
Unallocated other gains, net APEEMYE  FHR 3012
Unallocated administrative expenses K2 BT XX (10631)

Loss before income tax

BRETE BRI EE

(8529)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7  SrEBE R (4)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from EXE2E®RZHBBAIEBREINEFES
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in both years. N o Z PR EE Ay P E o
Segment results represent profit/(loss) incurred by each segment PHEBEESBEEZ BN (B
without allocation of certain administrative expenses, certain other gains, B) WX ESBEAR A && =Sl /N
net and finance costs incurred by the Company and the investment Ej EEZATITRAS BFTHEMEK
holding companies. This is the measure reported to the chief operating FFB R BTGP o It Th sk o R E R
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment nﬂﬁ“*ﬁi’%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%?&%ﬁ%ﬁ/\i
of segment performance. WIEE o
Segment assets and liabilities o3V E X AL
The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of assets and TXEINEREEB LKL AEMERED 2
liabilities analysed by the geographical areas of operations of the Group: BERBBEZEREESN
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H
Jewellery Strategic Skincare
business investment business Total
BREXHK RBRE EWER @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TER TER TERT
Segment assets PHEE
— Hong Kong — &% 95,292 27,037 - 122,329
— The PRC —f 917 - 113,755 114,672
96,209 27,037 113,755 237,001
Unallocated corporate assets RAOMEEEE 53,173
Total assets EEBE 290,174
Segment liabilities PBEE
— Hong Kong — &k (7,815) (5,053) - (12,868)
— The PRC —f (1,256) - (32,100) (33.356)
(9,071) (5,053) (32,100) (46,224)
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBECEBE (88,073)
Total liabilities BEEE (134,297)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2024

3 W &R (4])
gyl S e £ 1 (4

A 20243 A31H

Jewellery Strategic Skincare
business investment business Total
REER RBIRE EEEB @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAET FAEL FAET T
Segment assets SHEE
— Hong Kong — &% 69,079 25,287 - 94,366
— The PRC —f 1072 - 93,672 94,744
70,151 25,287 93,672 189,110
Unallocated corporate assets ROMPEEE 7,692
Total assets BERLE 196,802
Segment liabilities PTHEE
— Hong Kong —&B (9,810) (6,190) - (16,000)
— The PRC —f (1,265) - (17,157) (18422)
(11,075) (6,190) (17,157) (34/422)
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBECEERE (49,588)
Total liabilities BERE (84,010)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain
other receivables, deposits and prepayments, and certain cash and
cash equivalents that are not attributable to individual segments.

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
convertible bond, certain other payables and accruals, and other
borrowings that are not attributable to individual segments.

RERDHBRRENDBEIEER

— AHTHMBRKRER ZeREM
RE - UERETRELREFRRE
PEAMER D &I A BEEY

EEE%«M%\E'ZE °

— B%T%%F# T HEAMEMNK
R EHERAREMERXTTA
1IEJ"*|39|\'FJ?E’%1§¢’7 D ECE

£<<< L aNE _LB



Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& £ @ & 2R G R A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Ao S R Pk

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

7 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7 EbER ()
Other segment information Fo At 43 38 R
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZ2025F3A31ALEE
Jewellery Strategic Skincare
business investment business Total
KREXK RHIRE EEER @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT TERT THET TERT
Amounts included in the measure of 5B 7 &4,/ (B#E) &
segment profit/(loss) and segment A BEEMTAZEHE
assets
Impairment on goodwill EERE - - (20,000) (20,000)
Additions to non-current assets REHFRBEE 66 921 12,647 13,634
Depreciation of property, ME - BERSEBITE
plant and equipment (58) (7) (2,158) (2,223)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEECTE (494) (249) (2,256) (2,999
Amortisation of intangible assets BiEVEE - - (1,440) (1,440)
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance for  #[8l,/(;t12) £ BMEEZ
ECL on financial assets, net BHEEHERE  F5 3,176 = (1,616) 1,560
Write-off on property, plant and MEEME - BE RS
equipment (1) (19) (10) (30)
Gain on early termination of RERIMEEEH 2 Wm
lease contracts - - 88 88
Reversal of impairment losses on BEFERERE  F8
inventories, net 8,222 - - 8,222
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7 aWER(E)
Other segment information (Continued) Fo A 20 EORE (45)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE2024F3831ALEE
Jewellery Strategic Skincare
business investment business Total
IRE X RERE EEEG st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TET TET TET

Amounts included in the measure of 5B 7 &4,/ (B#E) &
segment profit/(loss) and segment A HBEEMTAZEEE

assets
Additions to non-current assets NEFERBEE 1,904 - 133 2,037
Depreciation of property, mE - BEREETE

plant and equipment (141) (18) (306) (465)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE (1,000) - (259) (1,259)
Amortisation of intangible assets BHRTEE - - (205) (205)
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance for  #[El,/(5H12) € BEE 2

ECL on financial assets, net BHEEBERE  F8 4641 - (4,238) 403
Impairment loss on property, plantand 1% ~ R k& &K

equipment and right-of use assets CREEEHERR (197) - - (197)
Reversal of impairment losses on REFERESE $8

inventories, net 12,840 - - 12,840
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

7 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7 aWER(E)
Geographical Information b [ R
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group's AEEFENBTBERPBRLE - AEH
revenue from external customers based on the locations of operations REINEFPREMTEE D 2 KB EHI
of external customers and information about its non-current assets EP2WmREZEEECHES D 2
(included property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill, IRNBEE (BEWME  BRERFZE -
right-of-use assets and non-current prepayments) by geographical mVEE B2 CRAREERERD
location of the assets are detailed below: TERFRIB) 2 BRIFFHIAS ¢
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets*
REEMEF 2 W= FREEE*
2025 2024 2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET FERT FHET
The United States of America ~ EFIE & BB ([ XE )

("USA") 68,774 42,330 - -
Hong Kong BE 46,192 6,790 1,691 1,528
The PRC i 20,366 3,328 60,373 73,918
Europe &M - 780 - -
Others EAfh 224 448 = -

135,556 53,676 62,064 75,446
Included in the jewellery business segment, revenue with one individual REEB Y BEEB E 202553 A31

customer, which is located in the USA, amounted to HK$68,484,000 (2024:
HK$42,330,000) which represented 51% (2024: 79%) of total revenue
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025. No other customers

contributed over 10% of total revenue of the Group for both years.

BIEFE SB—FZUREEZEANE
F 2 WA 568,484,000 7T (2024 £ ¢
42,330,000 70) (A RS BB A51%
(20244 : 79%) - PR FE RN - B &
HmEPHASEMNBKRAERMER
10% ©
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OTHER GAINS, NET 8 HituWkik - HH
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Exchange (loss)/gain, net P& (E51R), Mz - F5 (62) 4
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note) & — KB A a2z W (FaE) 4,048 -
Write-off of property, plant and equipment WsEYE - BE R&E (30) -
Reversal of/(impairment loss) on prepayments 2 ERFE A F0IE 2
for pearls e, CrEFE) 724 (2,284)
(Loss)/gain on change in fair value of AmkES s AT EES
convertible bond (Note 27) (B8, Mz (H5E27) (4,482) 2,997
Gain on change in fair value of mARE 2 AT EEF R E
Profit Guarantee (Note 27) (B3 27) 10,882 -
Others H A, 694 (233)
11,774 484
Note:  On 29 July 2024, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Thriving Oasis Limited, Mgk : R2024F7A298 REBUREB1ET
which had net liabilities of approximately HK$4,048,000 (mainly included other M — & % 38 = 77 & E R Thriving Oasis
payables to third parties), to an independent third party for a consideration of HK$1. Limited M 2 5  ZARIMFABOA
The gain on disposal of subsidiary was recognised as an other gain during the year. 40480008 L (X B RIFEEMENE=FK

) HEZMBAR Z KR N F AR
REAM Y o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

9 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

9 BRI 15 BE w1

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FHET
Loss before income tax has been arrived at SETERATEIBE Mk (GEA)
after charging/(crediting):
Costs of inventories sold, excluding reversal BEHEFRENRAE  TEEFE
of impairment on inventories SBR[ 99,450 47,986
Costs of services AR 7 A A 2,342 430
Reversal of provision for impairment loss on FHRTFEREEERD - FE
inventories, net (included in cost of sales) (BFFASEERA) (8,222) (12,840)
Employee benefit expenses (including EERNAZ (BEEZEMWE)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) (F$5E10) 18,170 15,103
Auditor's remuneration =&
— Audit services — Bk 1,612 1,600
— Non-audit services — EEERRTE 103 656
Depreciation of property, plant and W - WELRERETE
equipment (Note 14) (FF5E14) 2,223 465
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) FEREEEIE (MHxi6) 2,999 1,259
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) m A ERE (MHEE15) 1,440 205
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade BEEKERCTEREEEE
receivables, net (Note 19) B FE(MEE19) (2,558) (413)
Provision for allowance for ECL on other FHREMENERRc TEHEE
receivables, net (Note 19) B - FE (FsE19) 983 12
Provision for/(reversal of) allowance for HR (e Re 2 BHEE
ECL on deposits, net EiERE - 15 )
(1,560) (403)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS)

10 @ H & A B 2 (65 &)

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMBET 16,924 14,513
Retirement benefits RIKAE R 1,246 590
18,170 15,103
Five highest paid individuals SRS 3-% 1 NS W

The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for the
year include two (2024: two) existing director of the Company, whose
emoluments are set out in Note 41 below. The emolument of the
remaining three (2024: three) highest paid individuals for the year ended
31 March 2025 are as follows:

FA - AEEREERFMALTEER
RNAEIMAG (204F MB)HFEE §
Z BN E N T S 5E41 - B = 20254 3
A3BIEFE E#H=%(204F: =
H)EETMALTZBESMT

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET T

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENRHAMER 2,067 6,051
Retirement benefits RIREF 54 19

2,121 6,070
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS)
(CONTINUED)

Except for the directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 41, the number
of the remaining three (2024: three) highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

D B 6 A B S (95 S )
(#)

BRRMEa HEZESMEIN  BRT
FIE IR E < Her =4 (20245 - =4)
REHFMALTABAT

Number of employees

EBEAH"
2025 2024
2025 F 2024
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 2 1,000,000 78 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2= 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7% 7T & 5,000,000 %8 7T - 1

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to the five highest paid individuals, including directors, as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office (2024: Nil).

No special bonus was paid by the Group to any individual (2024: one)
during the year (2024: HK$4,500,000).

REBZE2025F3A831BILFE - KEE
TaEAAGAEaFTMALT (BEES) X
NEMME - EARSI EMARMA
NEBR 2 SEN BB E (20244 ¢
) o

F AR E [E W A E R AL (20245 -
— %) IR R AR B (2024 4F ¢ 4,500,000
BIT) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

11 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

11 Ptk (B %)

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 5

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHETT

Current tax B ERFH IR - (18)
Deferred tax credit (Note 31) EEFEE R (FIE31) 1,278 2
Income tax credit/(expense) e, (FAx) 1,278 (16)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKS2 million of
profits of the qualifying entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group has tax losses brought forward which are available for off-
set against the estimated assessable profits for both years.

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”)

In accordance with the relevant PRC EIT laws, regulations and
implementation guidance notes, subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to
the PRC EIT rate at 25% or 5% for certain subsidiaries which are qualified
as small low-profit enterprises under the Announcement of the State
Administration of Taxation on Issues Relating to Implementation of
Inclusive Income Tax Relief Policy for Small Low-profit Enterprises, of the
estimated assessable profits during the year (2024: 25%). No provision for
PRC enterprise income tax has been made as the PRC subsidiaries have
no estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2025.

5 9 75 B

REFISHMAG  GEREENEE
28 B8 T M ¥ LA 8.25% B B R F
MARE 2 B & BT 2 ia F 45 A 16.5% Hy 1
B - TRHEFGHMAGNERNE
BE A M S B 1R 16.5% B 5 — T R
e mARAEREEEMTISEETA
EHRSEMEFENHETERBUET - &
WERE SR SRIELBE -

w9 A S P A B ([ S P A i )

BIBEBAPBRCEMBRERZ  ERE
EiIE Sl (LA R EEHE A FA
BF A h T ERRELE ) 25% B R = (2024
F25%) M RIBEC(ERBIEERBER
B/ N SRS R R IR
REBBEENRAE)RERK A/ N
FIDENE THE QR RS %R E
BMPBECEMSHE R TPENER
RIREZE2025F3 A31HILFEL EE
STERBEN MY ERPHCEMRS
TRYEH B o

L2
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

11 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 11 P Bk, (B %) (4)
(CONTINUED)
The amount of income tax position for the year can be reconciled to the RNEFZFEHRAMRTERAESHATEE 2
loss before income tax as follows: HERWT
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Loss before income tax BREF1SHLATE 18 (1,365) (8529)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate at ~ ¥Z5EE FT BT R 16.5%
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) (20245 : 16.5%) st E Z BiIA 225 1,407
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEERZEZMBEAF
operating in other Jurisdictions TEMEzZE 2,316 (464)
Tax effect of; Mg 2 -
Expenses that are not deductible for tax Ll
purpose (6,829) (1,056)
Income that is not taxable for tax purpose BERB WA 2,169 141
Temporary differences not recognised MR B AR 4 7)
Tax losses not recognised HARER 2 BIIEEE (419) 871)
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised BRI RER CHIEERE
previously 3,812 834

1,278 (16)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

LOSS PER SHARE 12 ik E
2025 2024
2025 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AN BB AELEE (316) (7,448)
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
‘000 '000
F B% F %
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Bt E S EAREBTH 2
for the purpose of calculating basic loss TR AR 8
per share 693,896 644,990

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Company has an
outstanding convertible bond, of which the conversion will result in
an anti-dilution on loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024; and the exercise of the Company’s options was not assumed
because the exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price for shares for the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend any payment of dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

13

BREABRNVEARAEERA AR
HEBERRAFAEHTERRZNEF
VYGETH -

2025493 A31 H & 202453 A 31
KRRREMBRITEANRBRES  GEE
e EEE2025F K2024F3A318 1
FENEREBEEAREBEZE  RAR
AABBRENITEESREE2024F
3A3BELEFEMRMFHTE QI
ERBZEEBREREITE -

Ji%t &
BEESIEZMBE2025F3A31HIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 W% -~ W Mk

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Plantand and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Computers Total
HE BE B
BFEE k#% RERRE "E £ | @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL FEL TEL FEL FEL
Cost: A
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4/18 539 20376 340 2,650 - 23,905
Additions NE 143 - - - 36 179
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS I B 2 7] (5 36)

(Note 36) 1,559 - 539 - 83 7,038
Exchange realignment EHAE 23) - (80) - ©) (104)
At 31 March 2024 and R02453 4318 R

1 April 2024 04F4R1R 2,218 20,376 5,656 2,650 118 31,018
Additions NE 2,304 = 90 - 51 2,445
Wite-off i 38 (539) (19,951) (73) = (10) (20,573)
Exchangerealignment (B X% (54) - (99) - (39) (192)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H 3,929 425 5,574 2,650 120 12,698
Accumulated RAMERAE:

depreciation

and impairment:

At 1 April 2023 R203F4A18 416 20277 315 2650 - 23,658
Charge for the year FREA 200 41 218 - 6 465
Impairment loss REEE - 56 - - - 56
At 31 March 2024 R024F3 4318 R

and 1 April 2024 04F 4818 616 20,374 533 2,650 6 24,179
Charge for the year FRETA 965 2 1,223 - 33 2,223
Write-off i35 (519) (19,951) (73) - - (20,543)
Exchange realignment EHAE (36) - (34) - (1) (71)
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3A31 8 1,026 425 1,649 2,650 38 5,788
Netcarryingamount:  SR{EEME :

At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A318 2,903 - 3,925 - 82 6,910
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3A31H 1,602 2 5123 = 112 6,839
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 EE&EE
Backlog
Trademark contracts Total
wmiE BEAH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Cost: R
At 1 April 2023 7®2023%F4H1H - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) W B B B8 A &) (P 5E36) 4,048 3,503 7,551
At 31 March 2024 and M2024F3A31BK
31 March 2025 20253 A31H 4,048 3,503 7,551
Accumulated amortisation: et
At 1 April 2023 720234 H1H - - -
Amortisation #iH - 205 205
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 MR2024F3H31H K
202448 1H - 205 205
Amortisation #iH - 1,440 1,440
At 31 March 2025 7202563 A31H - 1,645 1,645
Net carrying amount: BRERE ¢
At 31 March 2025 M2025F3 H31H 4,048 1,858 5,906
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 4,048 3,298 7,346

Intangible assets arise from the acquisition of Tonnett Group (Note 36),
which comprise of trademark and backlog contracts.

Trademark associated with the brand name “FO". There is no foreseeable
limit to the duration over which the trademarked products are expected
to generate net cash flows for the Group. Consequently, management
considered the trademark to have an indefinite useful life, as it is
expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely.

The trademark is tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is any indication that it may be impaired, details of impairment
assessment is disclosed in Note 17.

B EER KB Tonnet £ & (Fif7E36)
MEL  ETERHELREEARL -

HEmE L FOJRBENERE - BIRER
BHRAKES KR REFRNAME
WHEAERNERS - Bt ERERR
ZEEAEEREREY  AAEHZA
ERERBEMBESREFE -

BRELEFRIMERNS  BAEM
BRBTAERA L IRRE  RERF S
BVREEOMT EE 17 AR EE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16 fi 7 BE &
Premises
L ES
HK$'000
FHET
Cost: B
1 April 2023 7R2023F4H1H 2,447
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) W RE B 8~ /) (B 5% 36) 767
Additions nNE 1,858
Derecognition upon expiry EIERBS 4R IFTERR (2,/446)
Exchange realignment M 5 S ()
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 202443 A31 AR 202444 B 1A 2,555
Additions nNE 11,189
Early termination of lease contracts REXILHEESED (131)
Lease modification MEEET (932)
Exchange realignment b H S 61)
At 31 March 2025 M202563H31H 12,620
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: HZitERRME
At 1 April 2023 202354 A1 H 1,715
Charge for the year FARL 1,259
Impairment loss RIEEE 14
Derecognition upon expiry BIEARS 4R I T RR (2,/446)
Exchange realignment ME W S (58)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 MR2024F3 A31 B &2024F4 A1 H 611
Charge for the year FRRAX 2,999
Early termination of lease contracts RERIHEEEH (44)
Lease modification HEBE] (823)
Exchange realignment ME H I (54)
At 31 March 2025 202563 A31H 2,689
Net carrying amount: AR FE -
At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H 9,931
At31 March 2024 720243 A31H 1,944
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The right-of-use assets mainly represent the Group's rights to use
underlying leased premises as offices for its operations under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which ranged from 1 to 3 (2024:
1 to 3) years.

The right-of-use assets have been recognised, on a lease-by-lease basis,
at the respective initial carrying amounts equal to that of the related
lease liabilities, which are determined based on the lease payments
discounting using respective subsidiaries’ incremental borrowing rates of
from 4.75% to 6% (2024: 4.75% to 6%) as at the date of initial recognition
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased

16 I HE % E (4])

FHEEEFEAAEBERBEERAE
ZHEREHRE (M TF1234)(20244F ¢
1E3F) AR EEEFERABEEDE
TEM AT 2R o

FREEECKEEZBEHEEENZIA
FEEEEERNHEREEENTIAE
H1E) R %5 EER B £ 2025
F3IANHIEFETRIEFR Y P E
REHZEWNBRARIEEERFNENT
475% Z 6% (2024 9F : 475% E 6% ) BH IR
WHEENRETE -

BRHEARENHEEET 2 ERES
S M E R B INE R - HE

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. BETAAEEEER -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHEIT
Fixed payments (Note 37) & E AT 3 (B aE37) 1,444 1,239
Expense relating to short-term leases HEAAERE A 1,206 458

Total cash outflow for leases

HEZR& R bR

2,650 1,697
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

17

GOODWILL 17 ws

HK$'000

FHET
At 1 April 2023 202354 A1 H -
Acquisition of Tonnett Group (Note 36) W B Tonnett & & (3% 36) 48363
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3 31 H KR 2024F4H1H 48,363
Impairment loss WEEE (20,000)
At 31 March 2025 R202563 A31H 28,363

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount of Tonnett
Group, to which the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
lives belong, is greater than its recoverable amount. If it exceeds
the recoverable amount, this results in impairment of goodwill. The
recoverable amount of Tonnett Group is determined based on a
value-in-use (“VIU") calculation. The calculation uses pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by the directors of
the Company covering a five-year period. Key assumptions used in the
calculation include pre-tax discount rates at 21.5%, revenue growth rate
from 109% to 15% for the five-year forecast period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 3%.
As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable amount of Tonnett
Group is lower than its carrying amount as at 31 March 2025. As a result,
an impairment loss of HK$20,000,000 was recognised on goodwill arising
from acquisition of Tonnett Group during the year ended 31 March 2025.

EREESTRIBERAGEERFTHN
ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%nnett E/ERmESR
SRENKEEE - BRMEBGEY
”ﬁ@%%ﬁ Bl & B AR (E © Tonnett
SEMATRESENIREEAEB(E
BEEDFEETE  -ZTEFRRER
AEESHAEN A TRV BESEETH
BRERMASRETEN - ZEFEANE
EREBERBIAMTENS% - AF
TEORIEA 10% = 15% /I AR E - |
i%ﬁ&ﬂ’]ﬁ%m;ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂu§$3%
o B E R E - 202543 A 31
B - Tonnett £ [& A 7] Ui 0] & ZE(E A H BR
HE - At B E2025F3831HIE4F
€ ARETonnet EBMEANEED
HE 3208 (B /5 18 20,000,000 78 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

18 &

2025 2024
2025 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Raw materials R 16,668 6,131
Work in progress ERE 1,056 977
Finished goods BN 52,913 37,232
70,637 44,340

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised a net HZE20255F3A3HIEFE AL

reversal of impairment loss on inventories, of HK$8,222,000 (2024:
HK$12,840,000), based on the assessment of net realisable value.

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

BEERFET G BRTERE
5 48 48 [0] ;% %8 8,222,000 78 7T (2024 4F -

12,840,000/ 7T) ©

19 REWCE K - At OIR K - &

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND B FE AT 3k JE
PREPAYMENTS
Trade receivables JRE W B8 3k
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Jewellery business RE B 15,898 17413
Skincare business EEEK 19,460 10,516
Trade receivables, gross JEME R - 185 35,358 27,929
Less: allowance for ECL B TEEEEEERE (10,270) (12,892)
Trade receivables, net JEWE K - FEE 25,088 15,037
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance
for ECL, as at the reporting date, based on invoice dates:

19 FE U &k

~ Al BOR K ~ E&
Be H Ak 00 (48)

FE W Bk (7))
UTRERER HREREEBRE

) N5 B BIRER T D2 RE S
7

2025 2024

2025 2024 FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHT

0to 30 days 0Z30H 9,353 7,119
3110 90 days 31290 H 14,094 2,798
91 to 180 days 91£180H 204 4,740
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 192 380
Over 365 days R iA 365 A 1,245 -
25,088 15,037

For jewellery business segment, the Group’s retail sales to customers
are mainly made in cash or through credit card payments. The trade
receivables arising from credit card sales are normally settled in one to
two business days in arrears. For the remaining customers, the Group
generally grants a credit period of 30 days to 120 days, according
to industry practice together with consideration of their credibility,
repayment history and years of establishment. A longer credit period
may be granted to large or long-established customers with good
payment history.

For skincare business segments, the Group may request certain advance
payment according to agreements for services, and may offer credit
period up to 180 days depending on client’s credit rating assessed by
management, further extension would be reviewed and approved by
management.

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit
enhancements in respect of trade receivables.

KEEBOAME  ARERTFET
MEEHETZURSIEBER RN
R ERAREEMEENREER —R
R—EMELXBAANEE - EBREP T
| AEE-REREFTEREN A
BEER ERCHELERIFH BT
30RE10RMEEH - 8RS 8%
REMARKFELIEANTS @ HET
BERHEEH -

EEREBOBME  AEBETJEGR
BERBEHEERELPINT —EMNTENR
B R TERETEOE R
RESRIBOANEESN BELRE
EHEHREREEEZLIE -

ZER 1830 M Bt e M B RS A AT @
ERERIEMEEEBREE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables are as follows:

19 MEWCE K - Al OR K ~ % &

Fe H Ak H (48)

W W Bk (A5

BRERNEREEEENBEEZS W
T

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL— ECL—

not credit credit
impaired impaired Total

2HEM A

FEBER— FEEBERE—

FEERE FERE et
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHET
At 1 April 2023 202354 H 18 5,935 6,793 12,728
Arising from the acquisition of I B Tonnett SE B M = &£
Tonnett Group 424 166 590
(Credited)/charged to consolidated GPNVEE =Y
profit or loss (6,263) 5,850 (413)
Exchange realignment PE & % 7 (20) (13)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 MR2024F3A318 K
2024 481 H 103 12,789 12,892
Charged/(credited) to consolidated MR G e 1ER
profit or loss 84 (2,642) (2,558)
Exchange realignment ME 38 B (2) (62) (64)
At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H 185 10,085 10,270

As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables with gross carrying amounts of
HKS$11,337,000 (2024: HKS$12,789,000) were fully or partially impaired
for those credit-impaired customers which are in unexpected difficult
economic situations.

M2025F3A3 VH BREELEA
11,337,000/ 7T (2024 4F : 12,789,000 7 7T)
ZERER  EREERENEFER
BRI 2 487 R 5 i 1E 2 Sk 3B Rk
g -
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 19 B G > HibEWRZR > %8

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Sl O 5~

Be H Ak 00 (48)

e S AT A

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Current RE
Other receivables, gross HmmU R - 2% 31,463 15,684
Less: allowance for ECL (note i) B TEHEEEEEE (W) (2,315) (1,346)
Other receivables, net (note i) H IR AR SR - R 58 (FFsED 29,148 14,338
Compensation receivables (note iii) FE U At 18 (P i) 41,970 -
Deposits e 796 709
Prepayments (note (iv)) TEAT FRIA (B 3E (v) 10,743 8,158
82,657 23,205
Non-current FERE
Deposits Ze 175 -
Prepayment (note (v)) Fa R RIA (P 5T (v) 10,954 10,954
11,129 10,954
93,786 34,159

Notes:

As at 31 March 2025, included in other receivables, there is an amount due from
a non-controlling shareholder, representing an unpaid capital contribution of
HK$980,000 (2024: HK$980,000) for a subsidiary of the Company established in
February 2024, which is settled in April and May 2025. The amount is unsecured,
interest- free and has no fixed term of repayment.

As at 31 March 2025, other than amount due from a non-controlling shareholder,
other receivables mainly represented advances to business partners of HK$11,762,000
(2024: HK$7,696,000), advances to staffs of HK$8,054,000 (2024: HK$715,000),
and refundable prepayment in acquisition of property, plant and equipment of
HK$3,295,000 (2024: HK$4,823,000), which were related to the operation of Tonnett
Group. Pursuant to the acquisition arrangement, certain guarantors have provided
indemnities to the Group for any loss arising from any uncollected amounts of the
relevant other receivables of HK$25,610,000 (2024: HK$14,536,000).

BAE -

0}

MR2025F3A31H  HiEKRERBIERE
U — B FEIE R AR B EIE - Bl AR 2024 F 2
ARSI AR AN — R E AR 2 REE
% 980,000 7T (2024 4F : 980,000 7T) ~
2025F 4 AR S A - ZEFIEBEER -
%8 R E T E IR o

M2025F3A318  BREKR—BIFERBKRE
RN HEWER T EREBRAER
X11,762,0007 7T (20244 : 7,696,000) * &
T #45%8,054,000 % 7T (2024 4F : 715,000 7T.)
RIEEYE BERZENAREBEMNR
3,295,000 7T (2024 4F : 4,823,0007 7T) * H
A Tonnett R BRI EEHRA - RIEBWERHE -
ETHERAB AR E W E R A
R W [B] FRIE EE A B ] 85 48 25,610,000 7 7T
(2024 £F : 14,536,000 % 7T ) [RIZRSE B 1R (LR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

19 MEWCE K - Al OR K ~ % &
Fe vAF K 0H (48)

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments o FE WO R ~ e S A R ()
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) sk - (88)
(i) Movements in the allowance for ECL on other receivables are as follows: (i) E W EEnEEEBEREZSNT ¢
12m ECL
1218 A
AHEEREE
HK$'000
FHT
At1 April 2023 R202344718 302
Arising from the acquisition of Tonnett Group [ Uiz B Tonnett 52 [ M & 4 1,047
Charges to consolidated profit or loss MEHREER 12
Exchange realignment bE AR (15)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3 A31AK20245F1 A1 H 1,346
Charges to consolidated profit or loss MEeKREBx 983
Exchange realignment M 5, 2 (14)
At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H 2,315

(ifi)

(iv)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, Tonnett Group failed to achieve the Target Profit
(defined in Note 36). Under the Profit Guarantee (defined in Note 36), the Vendor
is obligated to compensate for the shortfall between the Target Profit and the
Accumulated Result (defined in Note 36) and multiplied by two. The Accumulated
Result was HK$65,000, resulting in a shortfall of HK$20,985,000. Consequently,
Compensation Amount (defined in Note 36) of HK$41,970,000 was recognised as
a receivable under other receivables, as management elected Mode 1 as for the
settlement arrangement (described in Note 36).

As at 31 March 2025, the balances of current prepayments mainly represented
prepayments for purchases of raw material on skincare solution product of
HK$9,432,000 and rental and office expense of HK$481,000 (2024: purchases of pearls
of HK$1,616,000, exhibition expenses of HK$423,000 and purchases of diamond rings
of HK$3,780,000, rental and office expense of HK$870,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the balance of non-current prepayment represented
prepayment for acquisition of property, plants and equipment of HK$10,954,000 (2024:
HK$10,954,000) , which are related to the operation of Tonnett Group. Pursuant to the
acquisition arrangement, certain guarantors have provided indemnities to the Group
for any loss arising from any uncollected amount of this prepayment.

(ii)

(iv)

V)

HZE2025F3A831HIEFE  Tonnett £ &
REBEBREBEHRM (TERME36) - BIE
EARE(EERME36) BEHBEEMTH
EBEEHEFERAEE (EERWE36) 2
B ZFH R o BT ELE X A650008
JC FTE A ZEE#520,98500078 7T © EItE -
419700008 TABE S ENNHESE(E
& B 36) I E A FE U AR 3 T FERR B B K
R ArEEEEEE11EALERH
(M3 36 fmut) -

M2025F3A31 0 BEITERN REHEE
CZEBEEERANRERNEMNKE
9,432,000 7% 7T I FH & K it A = 7 32 481,000 7
TL (2024 - BB TK16160008 T  BRY
B 3% 423,000 7 7T I i B $# 7% 3,780,000 % 7T
THE R AEF 8700007 T) ©

20253 A31 8 - FERNERTE M R TR AU
BB - BB KRR & R TE 1 :IE 10,954,000
¥ T (20244 :10,954,0008 7T) » HE
Tonnett R EMEELAH - BIBWIELH - &
F R AD B8 T8 4 508 69 1F (] R Uk B 3%
HEEMTMAEERAEERERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

20

21

CONTRACTS ASSETS 20 FREE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T FHT
Skincare business EEED 843 854
843 854

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to Nil.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration
for work completed and not billed because the rights are conditioned
on the Group's future performance. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. They are
expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle, which
is typically within one year.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates.

Cash at banks as at 31 March 2025 includes HK$5,911,000 (2024:
HK$2,616,000) placed with banks in the PRC, the remittance of which
are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the government of the PRC.

As at 31 March 2025, a time deposit of HK$25,827,000 (2024:
HKS$24,771,000) was placed in a licensed financial institution with an
original maturity of three months or less. The short term time deposits
earn interest at the respective short-term time deposits rates of 3.5% to
3.9% (2024: 4.5% to 4.6%) per annum.

21

R2023F4R1H 6HEERS -

EHEETRRAKERD TRERRA
ENTRERKENENER  BHAZ
ERMUAEEORRRERGS - &
MEERENRBEFFRERERK
EHER BHZERASRANEE—
RELBERNCRE R/ —FA) &N -

Bl K F B &

RTRSRE B BTERAEZTHH
EHER 8 -

R2025F3A31H RITHELSBIEFER
7 AR B 3R 77 #95,911,000 5 7T (2024 4F ¢
2,616,000/ 7T) + HIE 78 5 B BN
AR HY KB B8 SINEE B 51 28 B SR AR BIUFTRR o

MR2025F3 A318 ' B # ¥ % 25827,000
7B 7T (2024 5 ¢ 24,771,000 J0) 17 B
FRECREE  RIA A=Ak
T -HHETHGERESENE T
TFEFF K350 23.9% (20244 : 45% &

46%) BRELF] 8.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

22 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

22 FEAEEEK - LAl AR IR K B M R

ACCRUALS #H
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade payables FETE K 8,343 7,874
Other payables and accruals HinfER R AR IETER
Accrued payroll and employee benefits EEtF e RIEERET 7,035 4,146
Other payables and other accruals (note) Eoqth FE AT BR S R EL At JE ST B A
(B&E) 12,383 12,160
19,418 16,306
27,761 24,180

Note:

As at 31 March 2025, included in other payables, there is an amount due to Mr. Cheung
Sze Ming, a director of the Company, of HK$5,222,000 (2024: Nil). The amount is unsecured,

interest- free and has no fixed term of repayment.

An ageing analysis of trade payables, as at the reporting date, based on

invoice dates, is as follows:

BIEE

MR2025F3A31H - HibEFRERABFEMSARQ
A)E R 5 B9 A& B9 5K I8 5,222,000 4 7T (2024 4F -
) B RAEER RERERTENRE -

RBEEH ENERREBEEZEHZ
FREe D ATEAE -

2025 2024
2025 & 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FExT

0 to 60 days 0&E60H 4,319 3,245
61to 120 days 612120 H 1,506 3,168
More than 120 days @120 8 2,518 1,461

8,343 7,874
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

23 AHIAMHE

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FET FETT

Jewellery business KRB X - 3,468
Skincare business EEER 3,042 1,285
3,042 4,753

For skincare business segment, according to the service agreements for
research and development services, customers are required to make
payment of 20% to 100% of the contract amounts within 15 days to
10 months after signing of service agreements, and the balance of the
contract amounts will become due or having credit term of up to 180
days upon relevant research reports are delivered. The services period
will be different depending on the types and complexity of services.
Contract liabilities of HK$606,000 from skincare business segment as at
31 March 2024 were recognised as revenue during the year ended 31
March 2025.

For jewellery business segment, there is no specific advance payment
requirement. During the year ended 31 March 2024, contract liabilities
arose from sales of jewellery products to a new customer in the amount
of HK$3,468,000, which is 100% payment in advance for relevant sales,
and were recognised as revenue upon the delivery during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

All services related to the jewellery business and skincare business are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

MEBEKSBME - RIBEFERBH
HE@‘%T%?N% BEARE RS MRE IS
OBMAARAZNELNSEN20%E
100% ° fm‘/\ﬁn K IE A B RE S 0 A A AR
M EE AR EER&ERA180A -
R EBAE IRIBE RS ER R EmE
Fr AR - R2024E3A831H RE#EE
o 2R A 498 & 606,000 7 7T B R E
£2025F 3831 BIEFERRBRA -

RUHBESXSIME  WESTEMNR
BT -REZ204F3A3BLEFE
AHBEEEEEN RN B PIHEHE
EE R 3,468,000/% 7T (/4 48 B8 85 & A9 100%
AR WREZ2025F3 4318 Lk
FEINBEERABBA -

ERTREE S5 I 8 R TS AR RR RO PR AR A
RB—F AT EARE - %ﬁiﬁﬂiﬁ\%ﬁﬁ%i&%
ERIF 1SR - DEEERFTRET
BHNRZEBRTTRE -
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24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 MBEAMRK
2025 2024
2025 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F R 5,079 1,112
Within a period of more than one year but RiBE—FRETHBARTHMEAN
not more than two years 2,755 580
Within a period of more than two years but RBBREETBEAEAFHER
not more than five years 4,251 368
Total lease liabilities HEAFEESE 12,085 2,060
Less: portion classified as current liabilities WD ERRBBEZHS (5,079) (1,112)
Non-current liabilities EmEaE 7,006 948
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the future minimum lease payments of MR2025F K204 3831 H RIKEME
the net minimum lease payments are as follows: NRFBARARKEAESROT
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —F R 5,473 1,185
Within a period of more than one year but REBBE—F AT EARFHERN
not more than two years 2,994 616
Within a period of more than two years but RBBEMRFRETEARTHMEAN
not more than five years 4,420 374
Total lease payments MENREE 12,887 2,175
Less: Future finance charges B ARRELE E R (802) (115)

Total lease obligations MERFESE 12,085 2,060
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25 BANK BORROWINGS 25 SRATIE
2025 2024
2025 £ 2024 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET FHEIT
Bank borrowings — secured |ITER — BER
Within one year or on demand —FAREEK 8,560 5421

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the weighted average interest rates of
the Group’s bank borrowing range from 4.88% to 6.53% (2024: 3.95% to
4.35%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the bank borrowings were secured by the
followings:

0]

(i)

(iif)

Corporate guarantee provided by Hangzhou Xiaoshan Financing
Guarantee Co,, Ltd. ("Xiaoshan Financing"), which is a financial
institution providing financing and guarantee services for the
purpose of obtaining bank facilities not exceeding RMB5,000,000
(2024: RMB5,000,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$5,350,000
(2024:HK$5,421,000)). Such corporate guarantee is secured by
guarantee issued by Dr. Li Yijia, a non-controlling shareholder
of Hangzhou Qingda Kerui Biological Technology Company
Limited ("Qingda Kerui"), a subsidiary of the Company, and his
13.5% equity interest in Qingda Kerui, from 5 August 2021 to

1 December 2030. As at 31 March 2025, HK$5,350,000 (2024:
HK$5,421,000) of bank borrowing was drawn down;

Corporate guarantee provided by the Company’s subsidiaries
for the purpose of obtaining bank facilities not exceeding
RMB1,100,000 (2024: Nil) (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,177,000 (2024 Nil)). As at 31 March 2025, HK$1,070,000 (2024:
Nil) of bank borrowing was drawn down; and

Personal guarantees provided by Dr. Su Yaoyao, a director of
the Company, and his spouse for the purpose of obtaining bank
facilities not exceeding RMB7,000,000 (2024: Nil) (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,490,000 (2024: Nil)). As at 31 March 2025,
HK$2,140,000 (2024: Nil) of bank borrowing was drawn down.

F2025¢&2024¢3H31 B AEEIR

1718 R HY DN SF 35 i)

<A & F488%

16.53% (20244 : 395% & 435%) o

20253 HA31H - SR{TEFRABNATIE
EfEAER

(i)

(i)

(iif)

MMBLEBEERER QA (5
LWEE ) (A—RHRtemRER
R < RS LIRS T B A
R #5,000,0007T (20244 : AR
5,000,000 7T) (#8 & 7 495,350,000 7
7C (2024 4F : 5,421,000 7T)) B4R
TRERBOCERER BELSE
ERAARAMBRBMMEKXR
BB EER A ([FAXH
W) ZIEERBREET—FEEL R
E B ABHE B 13.5% A% 7 2021
FQASHZE2030F 12 A31HEE
B PE AR EH I o 20254 3 A 31
A - BRERTTE5£5,350,000 %8 7T
(20244 : 5,421,000/ 7T) °

ARAFIWBARGEESTHAA
R #1,100,0007T (20244 : #&) (48
B R #1,177,000 7T (20244 -
) MIRITREEIRE D EER-
PR2025F3 A31H  BIREURTTE
3£1,070,000 7T (2024 5F : £&) o

AARESHERE L RELRS
BEE Ttﬂ/\EMmoooooE
(2024 % : &) (A0 & 1 #97,490,000
7T (2024 4 - ﬂ))ﬁﬁfﬁﬂmﬂﬁ
TR E AR o 72202543 A 31
B - EREERTTE 2,140,000 7T
(2024 % : £E) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

OTHER BORROWINGS 26 H i fE sk
2025 2024
2025 & 2024 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHEIT
Other borrowing — unsecured HME R — mEH
Within one year —FR 4,000 4,000

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s other borrowing from any independent
third party with carrying amount of HK$4,000,000 (2024: HK$4,000,000)
bears fixed interest rate of 6% (2024: 6%) per annum with fixed
repayment term of one year.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

R2025F3A31H  AEBEHEEAS
4,000,000 7 7T (2024 £ : 4,000,000 7 7T )
KREEMBIE=ZFHEMER &3
F 6% (2024 : 6% ) W E T F X7 B
WA —F N EEEFTHR -

27 "R AESE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Convertible bond classified as non-current SERERDBENTRRES
liabilities:
At beginning of year F1 39,712 -
Issued during the year (Note 36), net of RERET (MiEE36) - EHR
fair value of the Profit Guarantee wEAREBEHAFEE - 42,709
Transfer of the Profit Guarantee RO FRE 31,088 -
Change in fair value of convertible bond MR ESH DT EE 4,482 (2.997)
Atend of year Fx 75,282 39,712

A non-listed and non interest-bearing convertible bond with principal
amount of HK$31,500,000 was issued by the Company to the vendor to
satisfy partial payment of the consideration according to the sale and
purchase agreement dated 29 June 2023 in respect of the acquisition of
Tonnett Group (Note 36) (the “Convertible Bond").

The conversion price is HK$0.2628, being the initial conversion price
per ordinary share of the Company, for the period commencing from
the date of the Accumulated Result Certificate (defined in Note 36) if
the Accumulated Result is equivalent to or exceeds the Target Profit
or the date of the Compensation Confirmation (defined in Note 36)
if the Accumulated Result is less than the Target Profit (“Conversion
Commencement Date’) and ending on the second anniversary of the
Conversion Commencement Date (“Maturity Date”).

RIEBEA20223F6A29B8NEE
& AN A FLUEE Tonnett £ (B 5% 36)
M F 1T A& 58 531,500,000 7T 2
EEMRAEAI B RES ([TERE
%) U RE -

BIRE B0262878 T (A AR A FlRE
BRHOVPRRE)  RRFTEEZS
BH(E% RMaE36) (BT 2ESERN
BB RN AFHERREH (X
BMsE3e) (WRFAEE LR BEZEF)
([RERB B ) RSB H
ZRFE((2HA ) EHERGE
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27 CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) 27 Wl AE R (4)

The Convertible Bond is subjected to a locked up period until the
Conversion Commencement Date (“Lock-up period”). During the Lock-
up Period, the Convertible Bond cannot be converted, offered, sold,
transferred, contracted for sale or otherwise disposed of. After the Lock-
up period, there are no restriction on the subsequent actions of the
Convertible Bond.

The fair value of the Convertible Bond is estimated and determined
by binomial option pricing model, which incorporates contractual
terms from the Convertible Bond issuance documents and valuation
parameters observed from market source.

The fair value of the Convertible Bond is measured at HK$75,282,000 as
at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$70,800,000), with key parameters adopted
listed below:

ABREESERBERGAYMNAR
DEH(EER DR - REEHR
AgkEFTRER 2N HE B
RN ERAEMTARE - R
SR TRBRESFNRETHIZR
e

MR ESN A FEDR B REE
ERAGFREE  EFERBARRE
FEIT M B WG R T I5 R B
EMENHESE -

R2025F3A31TH AR ESZA
FEE £ 475,282,000 7T (2024 4 ¢
70,800,000 70) * FTIRM 2 + Z L2 8
AR

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2025 2024

72025 F 2024 F

3A31H 3A31H

Share price (note i) B & (M aED) HK$0.69 HK$0.65
Risk free rates (note ii) 4 3B I = (Bt aEin) 2.84% 3.55%
Credit spread (note iii) EE B ZE (ki) 9.28% 3.08%
Discount rates (note iv) PrIR = (M sEiv) 13.93% 7.62%
Volatility (note v) B (FFEV) 74.71% 92.02%

Notes:

(i) It represents the Company's quoted price as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024

(ii) It is sourced from yield of HKMA Exchange Fund Notes with similar remaining

maturity with the Convertible Bond

(i) Itis sourced from US corporate index option-adjusted spread

(iv) It is determined with reference to credit spread of comparable bonds and risk-free
rate, as well as liquidity premium

v) Itis calculated from historical share price of the Company

GEX

0] HARRGFR2025F3 318 K2024F3 A
31 BHBRE

(ii) HRa@maREsfafiRaanes
RSNER S R s

(i)  HREXBECEEIFPEFESE

(v HEND2EZALBEFNEEEEZRERAR
MEURRBDE S G (EEE

v  EDBRARTELRENE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, the management of the Company prioritised
Mode 2 over Mode 1 for settlement of the Compensation Amount.
Consequently, the fair value of the Profit Guarantee, estimated at
HK$31,088,000 based on expected value of five scenarios analysing five
possible outcomes, was offset against the fair value of the Convertible
Bond. As a result, the Convertible Bond was presented as a net value.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Accumulated Result was
concluded, and Tonnett Group failed to meet the Target Profit. The
management of the Company opted for Mode 1 instead of Mode 2
for the settlement of the Compensation Amount. Therefore, the fair
value of the Profit Guarantee will no longer offset against the fair value
of the Convertible Bond, and the Profit Guarantee of HK$31,088,000
calculated from last year was transferred out of the net balance of the
Convertible Bond. Following this transfer, a gain on change in fair value
of HK$10,882,000 in the Profit Guarantee was recognised as other gain,
based on the Compensation Amount calculated according to the
Agreement (defined in Note 36).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or
up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make additional
contributions. The employer's monthly contributions are calculated at 5%
of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$ 1,500 (the
mandatory contributions). The employees are entitled to 100% of the
employer's mandatory contributions upon their retirement at the age of
65, death or total incapacity.

The employees of the Group's factory and offices in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The Group are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

27

28

] i fE R (A

R2024F3A31H  ARBEEERL
HARA MIEEX 1 BEEHESE
Al BFREOAFEGBEINE
B RAERNABEBANTEREGT A
31,088,00078 ) BB AT MR EH K A F
B - Eitt - THRRESFUFEZT) -

MR2025F3831HIEFE Rt ¥4E
EEFE MTonnett £ E R gLED| B 2
mAl e AAREBEEBREBEAEN 1M
R 2BEERESE Al H5FR
FEHAFTEBTHERIBLRESNA
FEEHE MEEFAENRINRE
31,088,000/ L E B AJ IR (E 5 < 88 )F
FEPEL - EBRE  BFRENAEE
5 &) I 25 10,882,000 78 7T B AR 1B E R 15
H(AWEAB)ATENHESHRE
REEMKE -

3B P A
PR Bk at #

AEERBREBSRBMAESETENED
R TERBEEFESIEATE S EREAE
g ([mELsHE) - RIFRESTE
BEMEERE RBH 5% &% 1,500/8
TCYEH R - M 18 55 AT & 12 VB BE M
R BEZETARIIIEEE BEHZ 5%
A Z 15008 (EFIH)FHE &
BEESHIRIRTFER BT E
KI{EgE N =B 2E0EE 2R
ML SRR o

AEERTBEZHEEIMERZEER
TEIBUE E R B RE BRGNS
ZHRE - ARBERFERAX—HTE
B LR R R AR B 5T 8 S AE A AR A AT
FET - ARBERKBAE 82 ME—
BEREHIEE MR -
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28 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
(CONTINUED)

LSP Obligation

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, pursuant to the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation to
pay long service payments ("LSP") to qualifying employees in Hong
Kong under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon
retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based
on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3 X Years
of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of

long service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is
accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Movements in the present value of LSP obligation were as follows:

28 B MR A EH B (4)

R &2 7T

REBFBRFEGD (F57F) B AE
BEZEELZNHEBAR  EREBR
T (PlanfE EMESERIK) BREFATE
RENEEETIXNREREE ([ R
BREE) FTEREELSFOREH
B YIRATAXGFE

EE—EAANITE (EREKRLLEZA)
X 2/3 X ARG FBR

B —@MAMIE LR A22500% T
MmEHRS €M EFE 5815 390,000/5
TC e ZEERTARY ABERERTEREF

A&l

RO EERELIHOT ¢

2025 2024

2025 2024 %

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET T

At 1 April R4 A1H 466 487

Current service cost BIVER AR 75 A AR 161 68

Interest cost FIEA A 23 15

Past service cost BERFE KA - (104)
Remeasurement recognised in other REMEEBGEERCENTE

comprehensive income 123 -

At 31 March M3A31H8 773 466

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March 2025 is 20
years (2024: 15 years).

Provision of LSP obligation of HK$184,000 (2024 reversal of HK$21,000)
has been included in administrative expenses for the year ended 31
March 2025.

R2025F3A3THRAEFEZFHIFE
B0 (20244 1 154F) »

HE205F3ANHIEFEE  REARY
% B T E 184,000/ 7T (2024 F : B [@

21,000 7C) EFFATTHAS °
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29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 AR
Number Share
of shares capital
v =) [N
‘000 HK$'000
TR FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each BREERE T LB
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and R2023F 4818 202438318~
31 March 2025 20244 1B K 20253318 10,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITRAE
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 639,298 12,786
Issue of shares (note (a)) BT (M (@) 39,954 799
At 31 March 2024 2024563 A31H 679,252 13,585
Issue of shares (note (b)) BT (P () 93,139 1,863
At 31 March 2025 7202563 A31H 772,391 15,448
Notes: Bt 3
) In respect of the acquisition of Tonnett Group as disclosed in Note 36, allotment (@) 40 B 5 36 AT B FR 0 BL UK BB Tonnett £ @
and issue of 39,954,338 new shares at issue price of HK$0.2628 was to satisfy partial MeE KEITE0.26288 Ll 3 KT
payment of the consideration according to the sale and purchase agreement dated 39,954,338 A% 1 A% + LA 2 HAR 45 B HA 52023
29 June 2023. The issue of new shares took place on 9 February 2024 with the closing FoRAVEMNEBRBENBONRE - BITH
share price of HK$0.69, details of which are disclosed in the announcement of the BE 720245 2 Ao B 1T - W A% 1B 5 0.69
Company dated 9 February 2024. B HFRBRRAQRIBEA2024F2A98
ZRERBE -
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company completed two share (b) HZE20255F3A31HIEFE » AR AR

subscriptions under the general mandate granted to the directors by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company dated 30 August 2023
and 30 September 2024 respectively:

On 30 September 2024, following the subscription agreements entered into on 12
September 2024, a total of 27,779,373 new shares were issued at HK$0.48 per share,
raised net proceeds of HK$13,230,000.

On 28 March 2025, following the subscription agreements entered into on 18
March 2025, a total of 65,359,433 new shares were issued at HK$0.48 per share, and
raised net proceeds of HK$31,270,000. An outstanding balance of HK$4,280,000 was
recognised as other receivables (Note 19) as at 31 March 2025, which was settled in
April and May 2025 subsequently.

All new shares rank equally with all existing shares.

BRI 2023F8 A30H K% 2024%9 30 H
BIINARRRBFEAGS LR TEEN
— MR TR B AR RRAE -

202459 A30H F RIEMN2024F9H 12
BRI MRERE - & H£27779373R ¥R
RERASE LRI BEMESREFE
13,230,000/ 7T ©

202593 A28H  R2025F3 18 &
Y REWMER A £65359433 I FTAL 19 1%
BRO48ABITLEIT WEEMBREBEFE
31,270,000 7T  7A2025F 3 A31 B » K&
45 £ 4,280,000 75 7T T 7R A HL ftb & UK AR 3R (P
£19) c HIEER2025F4A RS A&E -

AR ERERE RN ZERFHA -
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30 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 30 W W R B A
2025 2024
2025 £ 20245
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHEIT
Finance income B TS a
Interest income on short-term deposits FHIRIT R SRS T HE X
in banks and a financial institution Z A B A 1,599 1,323
Finance costs B 75 A AR
Interest expenses on other borrowings HufEsz fE8Mx (240) (181)
Interest expenses on bank borrowings BITERH B (264) -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABEINERXE (462) (95)
(966) (276)
31 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 31 BEBEHEEE (AMH)
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of REZEUBRAKRPEY - FHELT
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been MEEERBEE TUEHE - U TR
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for I mE RS IR IEARFTEL &
financial reporting purposes: AT
2025 2024
2025 F 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Deferred tax assets RIEHIBEE 937 36
Deferred tax liabilities EETRIBRE (1,513) (1,890)

(576) (1,854)
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31 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 31 BEBIEEE (AM) (4)
(CONTINUED)
The following is the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and NTARNFERBEFEBRANEZR
movements thereon during the current and prior years: EREEE (AR NEZHIBR
Intangible  Allowance Right-of- Lease
assets forECL  useassets liabilities Total
REEE R
BVEE BEER ¥ WHE&fE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAT TAT TR

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4718 - - - - -
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries  E B I B A B E £

(Note 36) GEED) (1,889) 14 - 19 (1856)
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated (18 ),/ 5T AER

profit or loss during the year meBR - - (1) 3 2
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3A318 %

2024F4H18 (1,889) 14 (1) 22 (1,854)

Credited/(charged) to the consolidated &t A,/ (N 8) F R

profit or loss during the year REEE 411 955 (1,109) 1,021 1,278
At 31 March 2025 R2025%53A31H (1,478) 969 (1,110) 1,043 (576)
As at 31 March 2025, subject to the approval by Inland Revenue R2025F3 8318 - MRFBEBB B
Department, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary e ARERARREEZRPHMK
differences relating to the allowance for ECL from operations in Hong HEE - ERITEDNT AR
Kong and may be carried forward indefinitely under the current tax 73 B £9141,396,000 7 JT % 6,774,000 7 T
legislation of approximately HK$141,396,000 and HK$6,774,000 (2024: (20244 159,527,000 7T 510,674,000
HK$159,527,000 and HK$10,674,000) respectively. Subject to the ABIL) - MRSEE BB BB -
approval by relevant tax authority, the Group also has unused tax losses ASEERBETEELENRERBRK
from operations in the PRC, which will be expired in 5 years from the BiE(BEERLREFRSFRIE)
year that the losses incurred, of approximately HK$53,047,000 (2024: #953,047,0007 7T (2024 %F : 54,651,000 78
HK$54,651,000). Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect L) e BRARBEFRR AR AR E - W

of these balances due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. A8 AR A R RIE E IR A E
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32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 32 DAty L EAT SRR 5

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2014 Scheme”)
on 17 October 2014 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors and eligible employees, which was expired on 16 October
2024. During the year ended 31 March 2024, total outstanding 2,161,458
share options were lapsed, and the corresponding share option reverse
of HK$8,753,000 was transferred to accumulated losses accordingly.

As at 31 March 2024, there were no shares options granted but remained
outstanding under the 2014 Scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “2024 Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution
passed on 30 September 2024 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 29
September 2034. Under the 2024 Scheme, the directors of the Company
may continue to grant options to eligible employees, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company. The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2024 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

At 31 March 2025, no shares options have been granted under the 2024
Scheme.

KRB R2014F10R17BHHN—HE
FRFEETE ([2014 5518 T2 HH
BRAEERAGEREBSIRMEER - Z5T
R R2024FE10R16BEM - REE
2024F3 A3 ALIEFE - AHKF 2161458
D ARITE R AR R - MHFERBE AR
RE# 18] 8,753,000, 8 L E 85 = RAEESIE o

20243 A31H » 20145 5 &8 T 1
EERBEERITEROBRE -

REZE2025F3A831BIEFE AR A
RIEMR2024F9A30B BB RESR
ey — IR BE e i 5T &) ([ 2024 F 5t
B FZEMNARREEREERES
IR AEE - FZET B R 20349 A 298
fEm o BIE2024F 518 RABEEFT
SEMGEREES (BIEARRREN
BRAFIZES) REBRE  UREAR
NERRG c EAREARRRIREF S LHE
BIE R T 2024 F 5H 8118 T Al 4% 1 B A%
T ROBRHDEBTERBEAREE
ERFEEETROBERN10% - AE
A —EFER - % FEREA K ERE
Bt M B 15 (B 34T A5 31T IR 1D &
B) R ABBBAARETMERED %
TR D B2 1% + & RIZEES AR Bl
REELHE -

MR2025E3 318 » MR A (T B
RIE 2024 FETE|ER T -
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33 EARKIS
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Capital expenditures in respect of acquisition ~ FLUEEIE - BE NMBRED L
of property, plant and equipment BREREREE M EIREA
contracted for but not provided in BIENERFXZ
the consolidated financial statements 6,281 2,898
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N5

Key management personnel include the directors of the Company
and other senior management of the Group. The remuneration of key
management personnel is determined by the management of the
Company having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

TREEABBRARAEERALKH

HimAE

BE -FE2F

2 A B 895

2RI/ TEI@F*&WIA%E&W@L

ZEE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe TEREMBEFR 4,989 8,054
Retirement benefits RIRAE A 50 152
5,039 8,206
Save as disclosed elsewhere on the consolidated financial statements, Bz SRR EMIBo T EIN - &

the Group entered into the following material related party transactions.
These transactions are made of terms mutually agreed by the related
parties.

SEETUATERBEEALRS -
RBHREZ BAEANLTERGE 2 &

T o
BRI ©

A A
ZE

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4F

Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
BEATHRE REME THET FET
Company with common director Rental expense 210 360

EBEHRAEEZ AR HEMX
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35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents, bank borrowings,
other borrowings, trade payables, other payables, convertible bond and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments,
which include market risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. Save for credit risk, the Group does not have
written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the board
of directors meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to
manage the Group’s exposure to different risks arising from the use
of financial instruments. Generally, the Group employs conservative
strategies regarding its risk management. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value
of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated and settled in HKS,
United States dollars (“US$"), and Renminbi ("RMB”"). The
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk primarily arises
from certain financial instruments including convertible
bond, trade and other receivables and deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and trade payables which are
denominated in USS, RMB, and Euro. During the years, the
Group did not have foreign currency hedging policy but
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure.

As HKS is pegged to USS, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HKS exchange rates. No
sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group's financial assets
and liabilities denominated in USS is disclosed as in the
opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does not give
additional value in view of insignificant movement in the
USS/HKS exchange rates as at reporting date.

35

St % B B A B H B M BOR

AEBECZFESRIABERIKER
HiRUSRFARZE  RERFRR
T |RITER HMEX - BNER.
HMEMERR  AJRREFAREER
E-ZFEMTAZHBREBIER
B-ZFeRIASRZARBREMS
R (SMER R KA EREE) - FEERR
Kn@E s mEE o fE%ERRZBER
HRTX - BEERRS - NEELE
EMATZAREREEKNES - A
EEeTHRTEEAIMRGIFTHE
M EUEEARERERSRTAM
EEzE&BRR —RME  AKER
HREREERDRTRE - BEEEE
RERZFRR  BREFAXETE
CPAcyi

(@) TR
0 SERE

S BEE [ B 5 R S K D R S
MEHEHMTARKESR
BZAVERRKE 2 ER -

AEBEXTEEFTBRPEE
LXK BERRBOIRHMN
BT EZT(ERDRAR
BTARBDERESE -
AREBZIIERREER
BETERIA BiFFHk
&7~ YRS 5K e H b fE
WERAAREZES ReRkF
RARENRENER - ZEFT
BAUET - ARY REUTE
BE-ZEFERN AEEL
EIMNBE PR - EEIEE
SREETINERR

HRETEEXTHE KK
BRHIXTTH BT ZEERR
SHREMEANE - WE
BEABNETEZARE
BremEERARBZHZ
Eof RESEERR
ERBERTAHETILE
TTERTEHEERE(
SRR DML EEBIMEE ©
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 HAw5E kg A B H B K BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) T3 B (4])
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SMERE(E)
The following table summarises the Group’s major financial TREET R HE BB S
assets and financial liabilities denominated in currencies NEEB AR 2N E
other than the functional currencies of the respective group I EBHBECTESHE
companies at the reporting date. EREREE-
Expressed in HK$'000
DFETE5
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 %
RMB Euro RMB Euro
AR Br ARE BT
Cash and cash equivalents RekFERB2 481 1 803 465
Trade payables BT &R - (14) - @)
Overall net exposure BERkFE 481 (13) 803 457
The following table indicates the approximate change in TRBEARAEB ZFE (B
the Group's (loss)/profit for the year and equity in response B) wF RgEwm s B
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange g) - BT E) ¥ RN fE X
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the Z2EBTEEY (KEER
reporting date. E R HAgt KR E A=) ©
2025 2024
2025 W45
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Effect on
in foreign Effecton in foreign loss for
exchange loss for Effect on exchange the year Effect on
rates the year equity rates HKS'000 equity
MNEEZ SNE [ X

L/ BREE g $ /S HEEE Higs
(TH) BRz¥E PA 7 | (TR) BEFE Fe

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx TER TET TET

RVB ARE +10% (48) (48) +10% (80) 80)
-10% 48 48 -10% 80 80

Euro BT +10% (1) (1) +10% (46) (46)

-10% 1 1 -10% 46 46
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h'/T

35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(@

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
reporting dates and that all other variables remain constant.

The stated changes represent management's assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. A positive
figure represents a decrease in loss or increase in equity and
vice versa for figures in brackets.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Bank balances at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk while the convertible bond, bank borrowing and other
borrowings carried at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group’s income and operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial

instrument would fall to discharge its obligation under the terms

of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade receivables, other receivables,

deposits, bank balances and time deposits.

35

S 5 B B A B H AR M BOR (4])

(a) T3 B (4])

(M

(ii)

SME LB (48)

BURE o AT Th R R I B R
'''''' BET RN WS A ERAT
BEMABERRETE
EERE ©

ME IR E IR E AT (MR
ETEEET*MiJ*#&i
HEAEE 2 &2l se &
IEBRREER D &%/\i“
e Mg ARz BFAER -

FI == [ B
R R & fp BT 35 F R & )8
BHemTAAFENKIRER

EXRKBNEREH K
FRFTEZRITERERE
EEHESRENERR
i 4% & 7 M| &5t B 2 Al Ak
&5 WITER R EAMEK
EAEEEH QA FENER
b o REBZ WG REEH
ERMERAB LETZMGH X

EHE -

745 B B B3 R 5 4 I
AT EBBERAE

Bl THREBENEE

U EAHEAR -

(b) 15 &m KR
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 AR BE A B H B K BUR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 & mE B (%)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are continuously monitored by assessing the
credit quality of the customers, taking into account historical
settlement records and past experience along with other relevant
factors. Credit limits of customers are reviewed periodically.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Company has to comply with the credit and risk management
policies approved by the directors of the Company, established
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group adopted the simplified approach for ECL, allowing the
use of lifetime ECL for trade receivables. Management assesses
ECL on significant and/or credit-impaired trade receivables
individually, estimating based on historical credit loss experience,
general economic conditions in the industry, and both current
and forecasted conditions at the reporting date.

Remaining trade receivables are grouped and assessed on
a collective basis as these trade receivables consist of many
small customers with common risk characteristics that reflect
their abilities to settle balances in accordance with contractual
terms. ECL for these trade receivables is estimated based on
their historical default rates and ageing, and is adjusted for
forward-looking information. Expected loss rates are based on
the probability of credit losses as receivables progress through
delinquency stages to write-off. These rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors influencing
debtors’ ability to settle.

%W E

T

FEREFBRITIZEFEERE -
BEBAEELHLBAELRI
NEAMMAEEZE - LAMEHEER -
$ﬂ7m%§ﬁ§ﬁ2@ﬁ@ﬁo
BREEERR ~RGERE
BETFEARRD T%%%&ZFQ
RERERBCR - HFEERE
EE%H&EM CETREF o AR
RERIREITE B UGB EAERS -

AEBRBBIITEAERBE
EER nAEEERERR
HEMEEER - TEE@EHF
BERR /R EERENELE
RHNFEREEER XREEE
EEEELR TENERBLKE
A AR E BB E AT R
BRI AR H (A ET o

BTEREERDIEAREED A
L RA/RZFREENA
ZHRABARRBREBNNER
MK R FRIES G IRRAE
BREBoED ZERKRERW
EHEEBEBRDREBEEELED
RN GRS ATREEE #
FHHEE - FAHBERXTIRIERE
W B R R e R B B R B
MEEERMEMEE - %FE
BREHENRREZEBB NS
BRENMER RATEERBEE
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 W B AR B H AR R BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 EmBE (%)
Trade receivables (Continued) ERER (&)
The following table shows the Group's expected loss rates (shown TR R 2025F & 2024F3 A
on a weighted average basis) adopted to the ageing analysis of 31H - AE B E WS RIREE
trade receivables, based on due dates by segment, as at 31 March HMBEDEE D 2 BRI DTN
2025 and 2024; Z AR 1E E (I N 5 B 4E 7
)
Jewellery business segment: BEEBDE
Gross Net
Expected carrying Allowance carrying
loss rate amount for ECL amount
Fa EHREE

BRER REAE BERE KREDFE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TET TR

At 31 March 2025 ®2025F3H31H
Overdue by: B Ep -
1to 30 days 1£230H 0.07% 7,638 (5) 7,633
31to 90 days 31290H 0.33% 3,363 (11) 3,352
91 to 180 days 912180 H 100% 31 (31) -
181 to 365 days 181 2365 H 100% 6 (6) -
Over 365 days 838365 H 100% 4,860 (4,860) -
15,898 (4,913) 10,985
Gross Net
Expected carrying  Allowance carrying
loss rate amount for ECL amount
TEHA BH(ESE

BEREX KEAE BEREES KREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET TAET TET

At 31 March 2024 R2024%3831H

Overdue by: BH -

1to 30 days 1£230H 0.07% 6,853 (5) 6,348
31 to 90 days 31E290H 0.28% 2,484 7) 2,477
91 to 180 days 912180 H 100% 500 (500) =
Over 365 days i@ 365 A 100% V' SY6) (7,576) -

17,413 (8,088) 9,325
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 AF A B A B H OB S R (A
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 158 B (4])
Trade receivables (Continued) EBWER (&)
Skincare business segment: EEXEKTE
Gross Net
Expected carrying Allowance carrying
loss rate amount for ECL amount
FEHA EHEE
EBiEE KREAE FERE KREFE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T FHET
At 31 March 2025 R202563 A31H
Not overdue K180 HA 1.17% 12,632 (148) 12,484
Overdue by: wH
1to 30 days 1£230H 4.00% 225 (9) 216
3110 90 days 31290 H 7.36% 163 (12) 151
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H 41.19% 2,129 (877) 1,252
181 to 365 days 181 & 365 H 100% 620 (620) -
Over 365 days 838365 H 100% 3,691 (3,691) -
19,460 (5,357) 14,103
Gross Net
Expected carrying  Allowance carrying
loss rate amount for ECL amount
TEHA BEIEE
EEEX KRERE BERE KREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2024 7A2024F3 A31H
Not overdue K18 HR 1.11% 2,244 (25) 2,219
Overdue by: BH -
1to 30 days 1£230H 1.83% 3,496 (64) 3,432
31 to 90 days 31290 H 3.17% 63 (2) 61
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H 100% 2,736 (2,736) =
181 to 365 days 181 £365H 100% 747 (747) =
Over 365 days 365 H 100% 1,230 (1,230) -
10516 (4,804) 5,712
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 AR BE A B H B K BUR (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 & mE B (%)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Relevant information regarding the exposure of credit risk and
allowance for ECL on trade receivables as at 31 March 2025 are set
outin Note 19.

As at 31 March 2025, the largest and the five largest customers
accounted for 41.9% and 85.2% (2024: 78.5% and 91.8%) of the
Group's trade receivables balance respectively. The directors of
the Company considered the credit risk from this concentration
was not significant as these counterparties were sizeable and
well- established companies in the respective industry with sound
financial position.

Other receivables and deposits

Other receivables and deposits are mainly comprised of
receivables related to advances to staffs and business partner
companies, lease deposits, compensation receivables and deposits
paid to trading platforms as detailed in Note 19. Management of
the Company makes periodic assessments on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience and other relevant factors.

Bank balances and time deposits

The Group places them in banks and financial institutions with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
Management of the Company considers the bank balances
and time deposits are short-term in nature and the probability
of default is negligible on the basis of high credit-rating banks
and financial institutions, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

PEWE =X ()

AR E W E 20254 3 A 31
ZIEER K &%%m%%@%%
Z BB ERERH 19 -

R2025%F3A31H ?ﬁ&ﬂﬁ
EFEDRMEARE B ERER
41.9% K. 85.2% (2024 4 : 78.5%&

91.8%) CARRNBEERBELERB

hWEER 2 EERRITTEKX -

RAAZEHFHARSAITE

NABRT BRI ARERE

BRIFZRATE -

HttBEWRRRES

HitEWEFRLIZE T EBRER
BTIREBEHARBROERH
ERER HEZE RARXHF
AXMHEREERRE #R
Mg ARREEEREBE
RMETE BELRLEMHER
FH = E BT 14 E R W RR R
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 HAw5E kg A B H B K BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 158 B (4])
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's TREFNEETHEBEEBET
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: EOAEESREE ZEERR
Gross
External 12 month or lifetime carrying
2025 credit rating ECL amount
128 =%
2025 F IMNBEEFR 2HRPEESE IRE4E
HK$’000
TET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHERATEZSMERE
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL 24,021
(not credit impaired)
JE W & 3K @A 2 HATREAE E B8
(W T EERE)
Lifetime ECL 11,337
(credit impaired)
>HEBREEEE
(EERE)
Other receivables and deposits N/A 12 month ECL 74,452
Hin e R kiR ® T E A NREAEREEERE
Bank balances Baa or above 12 month ECL 21,946
IRITAEER Baa A3 LA 1= AR BEBEEEE
Time deposits Ba 12 month ECL 25,827

EHER Ba 4} REABREEER
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) f&&JEFE (%)

35 S o5 b BE H B B R (A

Gross
External 12 month or lifetime carrying
2024 credit rating ECL amount
1218 A 3%
2024 FF SNERE B R AR >HEBREEERE REAE
HK$'000
FHET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHERATEZSREE
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL 15,140
(not credit impaired)
e & R N3 A T HBEBMEEER
(I mEERE)
Lifetime ECL 12,789
(credit impaired)
T HIEHREEEE
(FERE)
Other receivables and deposits N/A 12 month ECL 16,426
Hih U ER R RIZ® TE A AR BEBEEEE
Bank balances Baa or above 12 month ECL 13,113
RITAEER Baa A3k LA 1= 12{E AT EEEEE
Time deposits Ba 12 month ECL 24,771

R GRER N Ba A%

REAEBREESE
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(¢) Liquidity risk

st B R M R E
For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

35 [ L b A B H B % BOSR (A1)

() VMBENE 4R b

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able to
meet its obligation associated with its financial liabilities. In
the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the short and long term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of reporting period of the Group’s trade payables, other
payables, bank borrowings, other borrowings and lease liabilities
based on undiscounted cash flows (include interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay.

The Group's financial liabilities have contractual maturities as
follows:

mBE R AR B REETT
HEHemaBEcEEmARA
Me-aEERBESARSE -
AEEERPEFEEERA/R
WHREREFERREKF  BA
SEZEZERHESRRERS
MEERNEMRSZTE -

TRERIRBEHRANEEREN
B B AR RITR
HitBERRHEREZHTELY
DR L RARBARBEARS
mE (BRERAON TN (M5
FEME) NI ERZF R E
Z R B FR) R A SR B A 4 B SRS
BrRFHHFE -

rEEERMABEBZENIHAEN
T

On demand Between
or less than 1and5
1year years Total
RERD
DPRA—F —ZHF #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT THET FHET
At 31 March 2025 "2025F3H31H
Trade payables e B K 8,343 - 8,343
Other payables H M ETBRSK 7,367 = 7,367
Bank borrowings RITER 8,560 - 8,560
Other borrowings HAfER 4,000 - 4,000
Lease liabilities HERE 5,473 7,414 12,887
33,743 7,414 41,157

163



164 Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& 4 s Rl £ 12 % A R A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#r o g R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(d)

35 S o5 b BE H B B R (A

(c) MEE 4 k(%)

On demand Between
or less than Tand5
1 year years Total
DPR—F —Z2RF 4T
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FETT FHET FETT
At 31 March 2024 7"2024F3A31H
Trade payables FERTE K 7,874 - 7,874
Other payables H fth FE AT AR R 12,160 - 12,160
Bank borrowings RITE 5421 - 5421
Other borrowings HMER 4,000 - 4,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,185 990 2,175
30,640 990 31,630
Fair value measurement (d) PG
(i)  Financial instruments measured at amortised cost (i) HBEAATEZSHBIA
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost include BREHEKAFEZEeR T

trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables, bank
borrowings and other borrowings. The directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts of these
financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values at

31 March 2025 and 2024.

AEBERRER  HEMElk
ERxkiZe BERERR
& BENER - HMEMNR
FRITER R HAMER
KRB EERAZECHE
EraEzEmERAR
20254F 20243 A31HZ
NEFEESE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs
used in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

35 [ L b A B H B % BOSR (A1)

(d) AP (5])

(ii)

BEAVEFEZEWMIA

B 5 1R R AR AR B IR 1R 0V B
MBMESEBEZEREEN
BEZRAFEELIZ2EDS

HRBREAELESRE
ENBBEZAFEEMER
ME 28 ABIRNEYE A 5
BRE KemEERAGS
DRZEBAR - A FERE
DRATER

EREEXBELE
Bz HmE CRERA
BY(FE1HR) -

BEERNB1IEZRE
S BERABZAE
mHEE (AER) XHE
(REER BA
B (B 240 -

WIRIE R B T 5 8L
EMETZEEXEA
B ABUE (B4R #
R ARR) (F34) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii) Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position are

grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

At 31 March 2025

35 [ L b A B H B % BOBR (A1)

(d) A-FEFE (4)

(i) BAFEFEZEMIA
(&)
REEE MBI KRR AT
BtEZERMEERAETD
BN RATHRFESH

MA2025%F3 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F14 24k E34 st
Financial liabilities SREE HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000

FHET FET FET FET
Financial liabilitiesat FVPL: Z AR E AEZH

ZEemasE:
— Convertible Bond (Note 27)  — RI R (& 5
(P #E27) - = 75,282 75,282

At 31 March 2024 A2024%3 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F1H] F28 FE3IM 45T
Financial assets and liabilities €RIEEREE HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHETT FETT

Financial assets and liabilities Z A E st ABH 2

atFVPL: TREERAERE:
— Convertible Bond (Note 27)  — A2 EH
(BMt3E27)
— Profit Guarantee (Note 27) — & MR EE
(P 7E27)

- 70,800 70,800

- (31,088) (31,088)
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of HK$0.005 in the Company’s share price,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the fair value of convertible bond of
approximately HK$512,441 (2024: HK$278,000).

At 31 March 2024, for the Profit Guarantee, it is estimated
that a general increase/decrease of 2.5% in Tonnett Group's
revenue, with all other variables held constant, would
have increased/decreased its fair value of approximately
HK$580,000. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Profit Guarantee has been reclassified as compensation
receivables under other receivables which subsequently
measured at amortised cost (see Note 27 for details).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the fair value of convertible bond that would
arise assuming that the change in parameters had occurred
at the end of the reporting period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the
purpose of measuring fair values are unchanged compared
to the previous reporting periods.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfer between levels of
fair value hierarchy as of the date of the events or change in
circumstances that cause the transfer.

The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use
valuation technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data.

35 [ L b A B H B % BOSR (A1)

(d) A-FEFE (4)

(ii)

BAFEHEZSRMIA
(#8)

HEE DT

MR2025%3 A31H » FBEH A
ANAKEEE A TR
000578 7 » T H ftb 7] & A &
HIFTE ATBRBRESNR

FE R I, #9512,441
BT (2024 4F 278,000 7T) o

%2@4&3H31E ohom Al
REME - FEATA E A A] &
I%Z’EHT“E’J ED
tTonnett EE R UL A E iR ¢

i w A 25% 84 B A iﬁ
# 50,8 4> #9580,000 7% JT °
HZE2025F3A31HIEF
B RFREEFSEAE
b JE U B ZRT A B U v (E
HemB#EkAtE 2 ER
HEGERWFE27) -

EXEBRE DT ERERR
SHEBPRBERRELE

B almRESENATFESE
BIRE &£ &) o

B S AT IR BRI L 8L - BhET
EAFEFERZ A ERGEE
Rty I 4 et o

AR 2 O AR S B
ZEURERE (0 AR
ATESRI 20 -

AEBLBERFIRZEM
BECEBEREANE ARE
(W FRER A B RETHEE)
ALY =Es (T
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35

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Financial instruments by category

assets and financial liabilities:

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position relate to the following categories of financial

S % B B

A

HHH R KRB (4)

(e) FEBUNEN 73 i ik T R

MBMR KT 25 2 REE

HELTEREEREMAEER
B

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 5
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets measured at amortised REEK AT EC S REE
cost:
— Trade receivables (Note 19) — EWER(FIEE19) 25,088 15,037
— Other receivables and deposits — EMERERRIZS
(Note 19) (MF5E19) 72,089 15,047
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) —HeRERRS (MzE21) 47,773 37,884
Total HBET 144,950 67,968
Financial liabilities tEaE
Financial liability measured at amortised IR AT EC SMEE
costs:
— Trade payables (Note 22) — EAER (MsE22) 8,343 7,874
— Other payables — E M EAERR 7,367 12,160
— Bank borrowings (Note 25) — RITER(FIFE25) 8,560 5421
— Other borrowings (Note 26) — EmfE k(T 3E 26) 4,000 4,000
— Lease liabilities (Note 24) —HEBE (MsE24) 12,085 2,060
Total #E 40,355 31,515
Financial liability measured at FVTPL: BATEF ARG EHEE
— Convertible bond (Note 27) — AR E S (i EE27) 75,282 39,712
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36 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 June 2023, the Group, through its subsidiary Eminent Affluent
Limited, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (‘Agreement”)
with Ketto Inform Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
("Wendor”), for the acquisition of the entire interest in Tonnett Julis
Holdings Limited at a consideration of HK$42,000,000 (“Acquisition”),
which shall be satisfied as to (i) HK$ 10,500,000 by the allotment and issue
of 39,954,338 new ordinary shares by the Company (“Consideration
Shares’), which shall not be offered, sold, transferred, contracted
for sale or otherwise disposed of during the Lock-up Period; and (ii)
HK$31,500,000 by the issuance of a non-listed convertible bond by the
Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, the Vendor and certain
shareholders of the Vendor (“Guarantors”) guarantee a target of
consolidated net profit of not less than HK$21,050,000 (“Target Profit’)
for the two financial years ending 31 December 2023 and 2024 (“Profit
Guarantee’).

In the event that Tonnett Group fails to achieve the Target Profit, the
Vendor shall pay the Group compensation in accordance with the formula
of two times the shortfall between the Target Profit and the accumulated
amount of the audited consolidated net profit (or net loss (if applicable))
of Tonnett Group for the two financial years ending 31 December 2024
and 2023 ("Accumulated Result’) (‘Compensation Amount’). If the
Accumulated Result is a loss or expressed as a negative figure, the amount
of the Accumulated Result shall be deemed equivalent to zero.

The Group shall inform the Vendor in writing within three business days
after the issuance of the certificate to be issued by the auditor of the
Company to certify the Accumulated Result (“Accumulated Result
Certificate”). If the Accumulated Result is less than the Target Profit,
a confirmation will be issued by the Group pursuant to the terms of
the Agreement, confirming the cash receipt and/or the Company'’s
redemption or repurchase of the Convertible Bond for the settlement of
the Compensation Amount (“Compensation Confirmation”).

The modes of settlement for the Compensation Amount are in either
or in combination of (Mode 1) payment in cash after the issue of the
Accumulated Result Certificate; or (Mode 2) the Company redeeming or
repurchasing the Convertible Bond, whereupon the principal amount to
be redeemed or repurchased shall be equivalent to the Compensation
Amount at HKS1 after the issue of the Accumulated Result Certificate. In the
event that the principal amount to be redeemed or repurchased exceeds
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bond, the Vendor shall
pay the Group the remaining part of the Compensation Amount in cash.
The Group has absolute discretion to decide the mode of settlement for the
Compensation Amount.

36

W B i 2% )

R2023F6 298 AEEBBENE
‘A @] Eminent Affluent Limited E2 72 2 74 5+ it
X 37 #) A & Ketto Inform Limited ([ & 7 1)
FIu—mEBEWmZE ([H&E]D - ARE
42,000,000 7% 7T 45 B Tonnett Julis Holdings
Limited ¥ 2 20 fE 25 ((WEE SR E]) - Ho
(110,500,000 7% 7T # B3 7N 22 &) i 48 Bic 3 &%
251739954338 R T L @R ([ ER B )
S BMBROARRERRNTA]REEH
B oHE #EE ARSI EMT
K EEE ¢ R (i)31,500,00078 7T #% B A& A 7]
FBREITIE LTI AIMBRES ST -

BEBZEER BARESETIRE([1E
BRAD) B E = 2023F K 2024F 12
A 31 B I E R F E R RS S FT
A 5821,050,0007% 7T ([ B & F) 9 B
ZRE (DERMRE]) -

i Tonnett EB R ALEK B iZmH - B A
AR B 12 5% A EL Tonnett £ [E & & 2024
2023912 A31 8 -/ E B BREE
ZAEERZIRA A (SOF R B (EAa))
2tz (B8 22EME2ZA
ANMAEBZSwHE ((HESED - M
2R EERBEIABERT - AR5
XEWRAT -

AEEEARARBZBMBELEES &
ERFRE((RFXERED R =E=
EEARERANBHET - fa Rat
EELRBREN  AEEBRE RS
FREHERES  ERARAEESECW
MR e R/ HARFEE @R A%
BEFAEES ([HEER]) -

IS

MESENGEE T A AT RA A T IIEMR
—RBIORAT A (RA1) RRF XA
FEEBRHRRURSNMN  H(BA2) H
ARARBREREZHRIZ 1B T
FRO R m Al ;AR E S5 - IR TR E
HBEZACERESNHESE -
HTEOREL 2 A RBBARRE
HFZAREBEASE REFANREA
AEEXNHESBEIH T - AL
B =RBBEREMESEEETA -
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36 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 36 Wl B & 2 v (%)
(CONTINUED)
Tonnett Group is principally engaged in sales of skincare products Tonnett &2 B £ ZR A B E AmAE[FO
under the brand name “FO”, provision of professional scientific research HIEHEEEm - RHBARS R IRH
services and provision of franchise licensing and consultation services FHKERRBHARY  ZBEER
in the PRC. The Acquisition was completed on 9 February 2024 and has 2024F 2 A9R TR - WFEBWEEA
been accounted for as business acquisition using acquisition method. BRDIVESE TSRS o
Consideration transferred (at fair value) EEBRE(RATLE) 9 February
2024
20242 H9H
HK$'000
FHEIT
Consideration satisfied by Consideration Shares IRERDZ MR E 27,568
Consideration satisfied by Convertible Bond, AR AR (B 5 2 TR B
net of fair value of the Profit Guarantee MBRMERNOATE 42,709
Total st 70,277
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised R EHFRKEEE 9 February
at the date of the Acquisition krERaE 2024
202452 H9H
HK$'000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment W - BEREE 7,038
Right-of-use assets CREEE 767
Intangible assets mEE 7,551
Deferred tax assets EEMIEEE 33
Prepayments TERT RIE 11,138
Trade and other receivables Fgﬂﬂl‘biﬁ(&ﬁﬁﬂg%lgﬁm 25,654
Inventory FE 2314
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMERRE 3,598
Trade and other payables JE A5 & 3R e L A 8 < AR 3K (9,796)
Bank borrowings RITIEN (5,503)
Lease liabilities HEAR (1,055)
Tax payable FEH R (1,552)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBRE (1,889)
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36 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The fair values of the trade and other receivables at the date of the

36 Wi A a2 v (%)

RURE B %H&ﬁfﬂ&ﬁﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁ%ﬁ

Acquisition is similar to their carrying amounts. MAFEEEmMESS
Goodwill arising on the Acquisition WEBFEENEE HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred BEBZRE 70,277
Plus: non-controlling interests (“NCI") o FErEh e ([FFEERER]) 16,384
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B BB EEFERERERE (38,298)
48,363

The goodwill of HK$48,363,000, which is not deductible for tax purposes,
comprises the acquired reputation, the expected future profitability and
the benefits from diversifying the revenue stream of the Group.

B N0 %5 59 48,363,00078 TTH B E A
EATEANEER B ABAEFE IR
NEBRARIRE A% &R F

s
fm °

Net cash inflows from the Acquisition WA o 45 B 4 T\
HK$'000
FHET
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BlER e LERRS 3,598

Impact of the acquisition on the results of the
Tonnett Group

The acquisition of Tonnett Group contributed revenue and net loss
of approximately HK$3,327,000 and HKS$1,391,000 respectively for the
period from 9 February 2024 to 31 March 2024. If the Acquisition had
occurred on 1 April 2023, pro forma consolidated revenue and pro
forma consolidated profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 would have been approximately HK$78,473,000 and HK$733,000,
respectively.

The pro-forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
of Tonnett Group occurred on 1 April 2023, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

W i ¥ Tonnett 42 Bl £ 48 2 5 2

B2024%2890H E2024F3 831 H
HAR - Ue BB Tonnett £ B 9 Il ¥ 2R 4
3,327,000 7T 2 U8 A K 1,391,000 7T 2
FEE o WU EIER2023F4H 18
BN REBEHE2024F38318IHF
EZHEZHFRABAREERE BB
Rl %) 5 78,473,000 7 7T f2. 733,000 % 7T ©

HEEREBENRPBRAR  AYATRE

fisg U B Tonnett & & 742023 F 4 A 1 El?6

E AEBEEBRGREMRAREE
IR EHER B EERTER -
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37 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37 %GB &R &M
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing il B E A 2 AR IR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing TERHAMAEBRERMETDH 2 BEE
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising B BEHSRIASEDH BEETH
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or EfsaERBERECLIRKE S
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow REERAEBZGERERERTD
statement as cash flows from financing activities. HARMBEHELECRERECEE -
Lease Bank Other  Convertible
liabilities  borrowings  borrowings bond Total
Ak
HEBRE RITER HMER &% aEt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT TAET THET TET

At 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 758 - 2,036 - 2,794

Changes from financing cash flows: B ER & REEH

Proceeds from other borrowings H (R Z S 50A - - 2,000 - 2,000
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMER - - - - -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEAEaE (1,144) - - - (1,144)
Payments for interests FIBARTR (95) - (159) - (254)
Total changes from financing RERERELZD
cash flows B (1,239) - 1,841 - 602
Other changes: H#e)
Arising from acquisition AU =R EE 588 5421 - 42,709 48718
Interest charges on other HibfER 2 FISZH
borrowings (Note 30) (BiF3E30) - - 181 - 181
Interest charges on lease MEEEZFEXE
liabilities (Note 30) (Fff 3£ 30) 95 - - - 95
New lease entered R FHE 1,858 - - - 1858
Change in fair value on AHRRERZ
convertible bond NV EED - - - (2,997) (2.997)
Total other changes Hith #8428 2,541 5421 181 39712 47,855

At 31 March 2024 M202453H31H 2,060 5421 4,058 39,712 51,251
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37 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37 %A 4e&mEEMEE (8)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing il S ) A 2 AR IR ()
activities (Continued)

Lease Bank Other Convertible
liabilities borrowings borrowings bond Total
GIE: T

HERE RITER HAER it st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TEr T#n TER

At 1 April 2024 M20245F4H1H 2,060 5,421 4,058 39,712 51,251

Changes from financing cash flows: BB R &R E &

Proceeds from bank borrowings %Eﬁf%miﬁﬁ%?klﬁ - 8,560 - - 8,560
Repayments of bank borrowings BRRITER = (5,421) = = (5,421)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEMEAE (982) - - - (982)
Interests paid ERFE (462) (264) (240) - (966)
Total changes from financing BERSRER
cash flows ] (1,444) 2,875 (240) - 1,191
Other changes: Han#e)
Finance cost recognised (Note 30) B FERREA FBA A
(P %E30) 462 264 240 - 966
New lease entered RIFHEE 11,189 - - - 11,189
Change in fair value on convertible —Hﬁﬂxf 5L
bond NPEE - - - 4,482 4,482
Early termination of lease contracts 1R E4RILHAEA Y (175) - - - (175)
Lease modification HEEL] 109 - - - 109
Transfer of the Profit Guarantee EERARE
(Note 27) (Bt £ 27) - - - 31,088 31,088
Exchange realignment fEH A% (116) - - - (116)
Total other changes Hip B 8B 11,469 264 240 35,570 47,543

At 31 March 2025 M2025%3H31H 12,085 8,560 4,058 75,282 99,985
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38

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

38 ZEFH 4 Wl RE A

SUBSIDIARIES
Place of Percentage of equity
establishment/ Nominal value of attributable to the Company
principal issued share capital/ ARREEERE AL
Name of subsidiary place of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
R,/ BRTRE/
WEAREH TREEHH EMEFEE EE B TEEH
Arcadia Global Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares of US$1 100% - Investment holding
EELRIIERERAR RBRNES LERIET REER
Gain Global Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Gain Global Inc. ERRUHE LAk ET REZR
Eminent Affluent Limited The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Eminent Affluent Limited ERRLHE LakIET REZR
Arcadia Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$500,000 - 100%  Trading of jewellery products
EERHARDA EiE LB 50000087 REREEM
Man Sang Jewellery (Hong Kong) Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HKS1 - 100%  Trading of jewellery products
REKE (BE)FRLA &R LakiAT REREEM
Hui Bao Feng Jewellery (Shenzhen) the PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Purchasing and processing of
Limited 1S$2,000,000 jewellery and assembling of
jewellery products
EFLIRE (RI) BRAAF e & 42,000,000 % 7T RELMIKERBERAEER
Full Wealth Investment Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HKS1 - 100%  Financial assets investment
Hong Kong Limited
EWREREERAA &R LERIBT TRHEERE
Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited EBRIHE E RERk
Wai Lun Affluent Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - 51%  Trading of jewellery products
('Wai Lun") HK$2,000,000
BREEEREERAR(ER) FE 8% 2,000,000 7 REREEM
Beijing Baijin Biotechnology the PRC RMB5,010,000 = 100%  Sales of skincare products and
Company Limited (note) provision of skincare services
trEeEnHEaRAR (ME) T8 AREE50100007C HEEEmRRMERE RS
Qingda Kerui (note) the PRC RMB2,614,379 = 66%  Sales of skincare products and
provision of skincare services
and provision of research and
development services
AR () e ARB 261437970 HEEEm  RIEERY

A SRR B 2 B
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 B A FFEN (8)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place of Percentage of equity
establishment/ Nominal value of attributable to the Company
principal issued share capital/ FAAEEEERDL
Name of subsidiary place of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
Ruts,/ BRATRE/
HEARER TEREHE EMEXEE E# M TEER
Hangzhou Jiyun Health Management ~ the PRC RMB100,000 - 100%  Sales of skincare products and
Co, Ltd. (note) provision of skincare services
MMBERRERERAR (HH) HE AR 1000007 HEEEMRRHEE R
Hangzhou Fantianou Health Management the PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of skincare products and
Co, Ltd (note) provision of skincare services
MMERERERERBRAT i AREE 10000007 HEEE R LRMEERE
(H:1)
Xi'an Fanke Biological Technology the PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of skincare testing products
Co, Ltd (note)
BLZRMENRMERAT (HE) SE AE%1,0000007 HEEBNFER
Shijiazhuang Baijin Warehouse the PRC RMB100,000 - 100%  Sales of skincare testing products
Services Co, Ltd (note)
BRERERBREARLA (M) HE AREE 1000007 HEEBNFER
Baijin (Hangzhou) Life Science Co, Ltd ~ the PRC Registered: - 51%  Provision of skincare testing services
(‘Baijin Hangzhou") (note) RMB2,000,000 and franchise licensing and
Paid-up: consultation services
RMB1,380,000
B (M) ESHEBRAR HE A - REEEASRBRAFELE
(MEgHM]) (M) AR %2,0000007 BERA AR
fr:
AE#1,3800007
Note: B3

The English translations of the PRC subsidiaries are for reference only. The official names of
the PRC subsidiaries are in Chinese.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

As at 31 March 2025, none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities (2024: Nil).

ZETEMBARMNENEREHRSZE - &SP
MEBARMNESBBERFX -

EREJARREERAHARBEREREERE
FTENARBEMBRR - KRREERA - F75
HbMIBARNER S EHRRBNITE -

M2025F3A318  IENB AR B BITERER
F5 (20244 : E) o



176 Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited A& 4 s Rl £ 12 % A R A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B B A M

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

39 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.

39 HEAT TR I 1R IBEHE 36 19 9 %V
i 24

AEBBERERNFERERNSMER
BB ERBERIWT - LTI
EMBZAEEALHEANER -

Qingda Kerui H KFH i
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
2025 F 722024 F
3H31H 3A31H
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT T
NCI percentage IR ERFTEBE D 34% 34%
Current assets RBEE 38,388 21,667
Non-current assets ERBEE 22,362 15,271
Current liabilities nBEE (33,330) (15,554)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (4,021) -
Net assets BEFE 23,399 21,384
NCI of Qingda Kerui BEARBR B FEE A 7,956 7,271
For the
period from
For the 9 February
year ended 2024 to
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
B E 2024 F
2H9RZE
HZE20255F 20244
3HA31H 3H31H
LEFE 1 HA A
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx T
Revenue WA 11,282 1,642
Profit/(loss) for the year/period & HREFR (BE) 2,293 (2,140)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for 4 /HIRZ2 MU A~ (FI ) 4458
the year/period 2,015 (2,140)
Profit/(loss) the year/period attributable to NCI - 3F 12 B& #E 25 FE (5 45 E (X
wm A, (E1R) 780 (728)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for  FEIERS RS FEIG & HIA 2T
the year/period attributable to NC| WA (%) 85 685 (728)
Cash flows used in operating activities KEEBFTARSRE (3,286) (615)
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities @& EBIFTR(FTH)IRE R E 2,945 (38)
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39 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 39 A O IR B B A Y I 4 Y
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL J& 2 Wl wE s ()
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Baijin Hangzhou (IR
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
72025 F 72024 FF
3H31H 3A31H
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET
NCI percentage IR ERFTEBE D 49% 49%
Current assets MENEE 7,311 5476
Non-current assets EMBEE 3,717 1,558
Current liabilities mENAE (5,518) (3293)
Non-current liabilities ERDEE (2,198) -
Net assets BEFE 3,312 3,741
NCl of Baijin Hangzhou BN FEE AR RS 1,623 1,833
For the
period from
For the 9 February
year ended 2024 to
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
B = 2024 F
2H9RZE
HZE2025% 2024 4F
3831H 3A31H
IEFE 1EHAM
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Revenue WA 6,333 1,570
Loss for the year/period F/HNEER (379) (689)
Total comprehensive expense for F /AT 25
the year/period (429) (689)
Loss the year/period attributable to NCI EIER R IEIGE BINEE (186) (339)
Total comprehensive expense for SRR ENF AR E
the year/period attributable to NC| g (210) (338)
Cash flows used in operating activities KwEEBFARERE (331) (2,095)

Cash flows from financing activities BMEEHABEREERE - 218
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Ao S R Pk
For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

39 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 39 B HOKJE b I RE 45 00 JE & i B

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL J& 2 Wl nE s ()
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)
Wai Lun (=
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
2025 F 72024 FF
3H31H 3A31H
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
NCI percentage IEERERB DL 49% 49%
Current assets MENEE 6,458 5,468
Current liabilities mBEE (298) (3518)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (4,956) -
Net assets EESE 1,204 1,950
NCI of Wai Lun BB H IR S 590 956
For the
period from
For the 7 February
year ended 2024 to
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
HE2024F
2RA7RZE
BZ2025F 20244
3A831H 3H31H
WHEFE 1EEAfE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Revenue Wz 41,140 -
Loss and total comprehensive expense AEE/HHEEBEREREEMT B
for the year/period (746) (50)
Loss and total comprehensive expense SRR AE RS T (R AN S, HARS
for the year/period attributable to NC| EERkEEMAXRE (366) 25)

Cash flows from operating activities

REEHAMBRERE

4,441 -
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e B R

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

40 THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 40 A2 Wz BB E R
COMPANY
S5k Pl

Statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2025

A2025%F3 A31H

2025 2024
2025 F 20245
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTHER FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARZEZE = 11,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT B A R R IE 76,592 134,534
76,592 145,732
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Hh e IA 46,250 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUCH B X Bl FRIA 53,551 -
Cash and cash equivalents RBekReEEY 992 345
100,793 345
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables Hib et 5E 14,718 11,521
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHT B A R ZIE = 45303
14,718 56,824
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/(BF) FE 86,075 (56,479)
Total assets less current liabilities HBEERRBER 162,667 89,253
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Convertible bond B ES 75,282 39,712
Retirement benefit obligations EARENEE 596 454
75,878 40,166
Net assets BEEZRE 86,789 49,087
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity FAEBRFEARGER
holders of the Company
Share capital %N Note Fff 3 29 15,448 13,585
Reserves i note ff#E 71,341 35,502
Total equity R 86,789 49,087
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Ao s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

40 THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 40 AKX ZMBER (8)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Statement of financial position (Continued) W B AR VLR ()
Note: BIEE -
Reserves mo t of the Company EARRERD
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B 1p s fE BRERE 2R by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHET FHET FHT
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1 619,130 8753 (615,650) 12,233
Lapse of share options B R A 2R Ak (8,753) 8753 -
Loss for the year FAEBRE - (3,500) (3,500)
Issue of shares (Note 29(a)) 17 817 (M 7E 29(0)) 26,769 - - 26,769
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 MR2024F3 8318 K
20241 A1 8 645,899 - (610,397) 35,502
Profit for the year F 8 F - - (6,798) (6,798)
Issue of shares (Note 29(b)) & {7 877 (P 5 29(b)) 42,637 = = 42,637

At 31 March 2025 R202563A31H 688,536 - (617,195) 71,341
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Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in respect
of their services as directors, whether of the company or its subsidiary

o 1 B 5 A P

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

41 #EHH K B 4R
R
BRERZMEHNT ¢
BZE2025F3831BLLFE

WEREFE(MHRARBNEKE QT
EB) ZRBENTEFTLAESTRKR

undertaking: ‘e
Equity
settled
share-based  Retirement
Fees Salary payments benefits Total
B HE UL
RO HER
Name of director EEng we e EF2 BREA #@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET THET THET TET
Executive directors BTES
Mr.Cheung Sze Ming (Chairman) SR 358U & (/) - 884 = 18 902
Dr. Su Yaoyao (note i) BRI L (I5E0) 360 132 - 14 506
Mr. Dong Peng BlELE 960 - - - 960
1,320 1,016 - 32 2,368
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun RBEBELAE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (note ii) BF 2R 5% A (P sin) 240 = - - 240
Ms. Xie Chunchen (note iii) &Rz L (i) 66 - - - 66
546 - - - 546
Independent non-executive BIUFHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe Bk E 216 - - - 216
Mr. Chang Chunyu BENLAE 216 = = = 216
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel (note iv) FRBEAE (V) 216 - - - 216
648 - - - 648

181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Ao S R Pk
For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

41 FEFHN L RER (4)

R4 (A1)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31ALEE

HREREE(THRARALEMB QA
X ZBRBENTEFLAESTRKR

Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in respect
of their services as directors, whether of the company or its subsidiary

undertaking: B
Equity
settled
share-based Retirement
Fees Salary payments benefits Total
FRREREE LA
B in A B
Name of director BEEME e ¥¢ DR RANEF st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAEL FAET FAET TEL T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BrREsE - 392 - 18 410
Mr. Leung Alex (note v) RIS (i) 50 - - - 50
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming KRG AE - 884 - 18 902
Dr. Su Yaoyao BIZRE L 6 - - - 6
Mr. Dong Peng BlELE 413 - - - 413
469 1,276 - 36 1,781
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun RBERAE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin HBrERuAE 3 - - - 3
243 - - - 243
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (note vi) 8 & 82504 (B 5Evi) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe Bkt 192 - - - 192
Mr. Chang Chunyu BEMLAE 192 = = = 192
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel FRBEE 73 = = = 73
477 - 4 - 477
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 1 B 5 A P

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3A31HILFE

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) appointed on 26 March 2024

(ii) re-designated on 26 March 2024

(iii) appointed on 23 December 2024

(iv) appointed on 29 November 2023

(v) retired on 30 August 2023

(vi) resigned on 10 May 2023

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, none of the directors
of the Company waived or has agreed to waive any emolument.

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the year (2024: Nil).

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been re-classified to conform with
current year's presentation.

41

42

M AR M hE B (A)

HAH 4 ()

3

() R202453 A6 AEEAE
(i) 202453 A 26 BFAME

(i) R2024F 1223 BEEE
(v R2023%F 11 A2BEEE
) 7202358 30 BIRIE

(vi) 20235 B 10 HEHT

REE2025%F K 20243 A31H IEF
B AReEEMEREXRENES
B & -

AREZABHEE S WA K EUER
RIRAEM RBERAR R (2024 FF : ) o

P 3

ETURBFCENOER  AERFE
OERTIDE: kS O
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Five Year Financial Summary

HAE T

For the year ended 31 March 2025  #(Z2025F3 31 ILFE

RESULTS E¥
For the year ended 31 March
HZE3A3MBLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 F 2024 F 2023 F 2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FHET FAET
Revenue A 135,556 53,676 86,880 62,647 43324
(Loss)/profit before BrRETISRLAT (B518),
income tax gl (1,365) (8,529) 8,676 (15,462) (52,077)
Income tax credit/(expense) FremEe,/ () 1,278 (16) - - 292
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (F8), i T (87) (8,545) 8,676 (15,462) (51,785)
(Loss)/profit for the year AT ALTREGEE
attributable to: (B18),/ & H
Owners of the Company ZINNETE ¥ =N (316) (7,448) 8,676 (15,462) (51,785)
Non-controlling interests FEE M 229 (1,097) - - -
(87) (8,545) 8676 (15,462) (51,785)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & e K AafE
At 31 March
M3A31H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 F 2024 F 2023 F 2022 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FAT
Total assets BEE 290,174 196,802 99,851 82,109 91,765
Total liabilities BEE (134,297) (84,010) (21,563) (46,242) (45,820)
Net assets BEFE 155,877 112,792 78,288 35,867 45,945
Non-controlling interests JEIE R S (16,594) (16,484) - - -
Equity attributable to owners VN/NECTE RSN
of the Company JE(L R = 139,283 96,308 78,288 35,867 45,945
Notes: s -

(1) The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual

report.

(1) MBEFHIEEAFRIGEMBRER -
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